DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 416

MADLI JÕKS

Biodiversity drivers in oceanic archipelagos and habitat fragments, explored by agent-based simulation models





DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 416

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 416

MADLI JÕKS

Biodiversity drivers in oceanic archipelagos and habitat fragments, explored by agent-based simulation models



Department of Botany, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation was accepted for the commencement of the degree of *Doctor philosophiae* in botany and mycology at the University of Tartu on April 10th, 2023, by the Scientific Council of the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

Supervisor:	Prof. Meelis Pärtel, University of Tartu, Estonia
Opponent:	Dr. Juliano Sarmento Cabral, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom
Commencement:	Room 127, J. Liivi 2, Tartu, on May 26 th , 2023, at 10.15 a.m.

Publication of this thesis is granted by the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu

ISSN 1024-6479 (print) ISBN 978-9916-27-194-0 (print) ISSN 2806-2140 (pdf) ISBN 978-9916-27-195-7 (pdf)

Copyright: Madli Jõks, 2023

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
 MATERIALS AND METHODS	11 11 12 15 17 18
 RESULTS	19 19
 affects species composition mainly in elongated archipelagos	19 20 23
affinity	23
4. DISCUSSION	25
5. CONCLUSIONS	29
SUDAMA DV	30 25
	33 27
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	37
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	41
PUBLICATIONS	43
CURRICULUM VITAE	92
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	94

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers denoted in the text by Roman numerals:

- I Jõks, M. and Pärtel, M. 2019. Plant diversity in Oceanic archipelagos: realistic patterns emulated by an agent-based computer simulation. Ecography 42: 740–754.
- II Jõks, M., Kreft, H., Weigelt, P., Pärtel, M. 2021. Legacy of archipelago history in modern island biodiversity – An agent-based simulation model. – Global Ecology and Biogeography 30: 247–261.
- III Jõks, M., Helm, A., Kasari-Toussaint, L., Kook, E., Lutter, R., Noreika, N., Oja, E., Öpik, M., Randlane, T., Reier, Ü., Riibak, K., Saag, A., Tullus, H., Tullus, T., Pärtel, M. 2023. A simulation model of functional habitat connectivity demonstrates the importance of species establishment in older forests. – Ecological Modelling 481: 110361.

Published papers are reproduced with permission of the publishers.

Author's contribution to the publications:

I, II, III participated in developing the idea and simulation script writing, had the main responsibility in simulation experiments, data analyses and manuscript writing.

1. INTRODUCTION

Islands are considered perfect ecological study systems due to their distinct physical boundaries and resulting well-defined populations. Evolutionary curiosities, high endemism rates, and disproportionate contribution to the global biodiversity loss add to reasons why islands have attracted ecologists' attention for centuries. Among them, oceanic islands of volcanic origin, that have never been connected to the mainland, offer a special opportunity to study biodiversity development in action, driven by the immigration and evolution processes (Whittaker and Fernández-Palacios 2007, Warren et al. 2015). In addition, oceanic archipelagos act as networks of directional species dispersal, driven by spatio-temporal dynamics. Intriguingly, fragmented habitats within landscapes, that are mostly a result of human activity, function somewhat similarly to real archipelagos and offer an equally interesting opportunity to study the dynamics of spatially isolated populations, as well as an equally important conservational challenge.

The equilibrium theory of island biogeography, first proposed by MacArthur and Wilson in 1963, replaced the until-then dominated static view on oceanic islands with dynamic equilibrium and quickly claimed the role of leading paradigm among island ecologists. It elegantly connected two defining processes – immigration and extinction – with their principal limiting factors – isolation and area respectively – into a simple model. Theory states that as both processes depend on the number of species already present on the island, a dynamic equilibrium between immigration and extinction occurs after some time, resulting in a more or less steady number of species with changing assembly. This dynamic view on local species composition laid the foundation for the concept of species pool, which is defined as the set of all species available to colonize a focal site (Cornell and Harrison 2014) and has been later widely developed and discussed in ecology (Zobel 2016).

During the following decades the equilibrium theory was tested and proved on several different systems (reviewed by Schoener 2010), but also challenged and criticized for its limitations. Several authors have argued that the assumption of island ever getting to the equilibrium state is false, as volcanically active islands are constantly disrupted by new explosions (Bush and Whittaker 1993, Heaney 2000). It has been also demonstrated that immigration is not only limited by island isolation, as stated by MacArthur and Wilson, but can be also affected by island area (target area hypothesis, Gilpin & Diamond, 1976) and extinction is not only limited by island area but also by island isolation (rescue hypothesis, Brown & Kodric-Brown, 1977). Whittaker et al. (2008) argued that MacArthur and Wilson's theory is unfit for oceanic islands, where evolution contributes at the same time scales as immigration to the species richness increase. In addition, the lack of several other factors – habitat diversity, archipelagic configuration, and geological development – have been pointed out (e.g. Heaney 2000, Whittaker et al. 2008). General dynamic theory of oceanic island biogeography (Whittaker et al. 2008) ties the rates of immigration and extinction as well as the local speciation to the life cycle of a typical hotspot oceanic island, which emerges from the sea, builds to the maximal area and height, and then starts eroding and subsiding. The peak of local speciation approximately cooccurs with the topographic complexity in the island's 'middle age' shortly after the maximal elevation and area have been passed, and species richness forms a hump-shaped relationship with island age.

Despite the shortcomings, MacArthur and Wilson's theory of island biogeography undeniably became a paradigm and a starting point for every island biogeography study to be published in coming decades. Even more, for a while it also dominated the entire spatial ecology: it was quickly adopted as the primary model to study the 'habitat islands' of the fragmented landscapes. By the early 1980s, it had become the dominant ecological paradigm in conservation biology (Hanski and Simberloff 1997) and it was even used as a basis for the best spatial configuration of nature reserves (Diamond 1975, Terborgh 1975, Hanski 2001). However, by the end of the decade, its popularity was declining both in ecology and in conservation biology, while conceptually close metapopulation theory, first introduced by Levins in 1969, began to gain popularity. Metapopulation, according to Levins, is a set of spatially separated subpopulations, which are connected by dispersing or migrating individuals. Each subpopulation is characterized by a high extinction probability, whereas the migrating individuals are buffering the entire metapopulation from being endangered by the small-scale environmental change. Similarly to island biogeography theory, metapopulation theory emphasizes the importance of spatial arrangement of individuals and populations and resulting ecological interactions (Hanski 1998). The main difference from island biogeography theory is the lack of mainland species pool and the occurrence of several small 'island' populations.

If first, landscape ecology had adopted elements from island biogeography, then in the 2000s, the latter started to look towards landscape ecology for the methods. One such aspect has been the island isolation metric, as MacArthur and Wilson's initial theory fails to cover the archipelagic organization of most oceanic islands. It has been pointed out that for real oceanic islands, older islands of the neighborhood are much more probable sources of species than the very distant mainland and thus, island isolation metric should not reflect only the distance to the mainland, but rather account for the entire spatial organization of the archipelago (Weigelt and Kreft 2013). Thus, several alternative isolation metrics have been tested, e.g. distance to the nearest older island (Cardoso et al. 2010), distance to other islands (Borges and Hortal 2009), the availability of mainland in the surrounding of the island (Weigelt and Kreft 2013) as well as the dispersal ability of the mainland species pool (Cabral et al. 2019a).

Although real and habitat islands share several properties, there is also a crucial difference between the two. While ocean around the islands is considered a totally unfit habitat for terrestrial species, this binary habitat/nonhabitat classi-

fication may not apply for habitat fragments, such as old-growth forests (Kupfer et al. 2006). Forest fragmentation is a global conservation concern, resulting in small and isolated populations of forest-specific biodiversity. Estonian old stable forest fragments are no exception, being surrounded by the areas of non-forest and anthropogenic habitats, but also by younger secondary forests which have mainly developed on abandoned agricultural land as a result of socio-economic changes. Whereas grasslands or anthropogenic landscapes might be totally uninhabitable for old-forest specific biodiversity, the secondary or managed forests might support it to some degree. Therefore, it is suggested that treating forest fragments as oceanic islands is unreasonable and instead, landscape around the forest patches (matrix) should be considered in its heterogeneity (Kupfer et al. 2006), while counting for the organisms' response to the landscape. For that purpose, functional connectivity, which describes organisms' ability to move among the patches (Tischendorf and Fahrig 2000), can be used in addition to the spatial arrangement – or the structural connectivity – of the patches. Moreover, for slowly or passively dispersing taxa, such as plants, lichens, fungi and even insects, functional connectivity might not solely depend on their ability to move among the patches, but also on their ability to establish temporary populations in the matrix. Similarly to island isolation, high connectivity between the habitat fragments leads to higher immigration rates and consequently, to higher species richness (Taylor et al. 1993, Rosenberg et al. 1997). Additionally, forest age has often been associated with habitat quality (reviewed by Nordén et al., 2014), but it is unsettled, how well the surrounding different-aged secondary forests support connectivity and biodiversity of the old-forest fragments.

Island biogeography has historically been dominated by descriptive research approach and correlational statistical models. A main shortcoming of correlational methods is their inability to identify causal relationships (Gotelli et al. 2009, Cabral et al. 2017, Hagen 2022) and therefore, process-based (mechanistic) models which dynamically simulate processes and resulting biodiversity patterns through the rules or equations that have biologically meaningful parameters, have been suggested as a more informative approach (Cabral et al. 2017). During the recent decades, using process-based models in island biogeography has greatly advanced (e.g. Rosindell and Phillimore 2011, Rosindell and Harmon 2013, Valente et al. 2015, Borregaard et al. 2016, Gascuel et al. 2016, Matthews et al. 2020, Aguilée et al. 2021) owning to the simultaneous progress in computational power and availability of spatial data. Agent-based simulations are process-based models that simulate populations and communities via discrete agents that represent individual organisms or groups of similar individual organisms (DeAngelis and Mooij 2005). In ecology, these models have been mostly used to study animal movement and behavior and thus, they have often been called individual-based simulations. Unlike the classical differential-equation models, agent-based models are based on relatively simple rules that apply to individual agents, which leads to system-level biodiversity patterns emerging bottom-up. A strategy called pattern-oriented modeling has been proposed for agent-based modeling, which focuses on reproducing the observed patterns of nature (Grimm et al. 2005). To

prevent a situation, where a single model is parametrized to fit empirical data regardless of its underlying processes, contrasting alternative models and their outcomes is suggested (Grimm et al. 2005).

Due to their obvious advantages for smaller-scale studies, where individual differences and spatial organization of individuals are of great importance, agentbased simulation models have been much more widely used in landscape and population ecology (e.g. Travis et al. 2005, Xiao et al. 2010, Kazmierczak et al. 2016) than in biogeography. For example, forest gap models which simulate the establishment, growth and mortality of individual trees as a function of competition and abiotic factors, have been developed since the 1960s (e.g. Botkin et al. 1972). Individual-based models have been also often used to study forest connectivity, but these studies have mostly considered active animal movements, behavior, and habitat selection (e.g. Trapp et al. 2019, Zeller et al. 2020, Rohwäder and Jeltsch 2022). However, agent-based models can be a helpful tool to study connectivity of passively dispersing organisms, as well as for larger-scale studies of biogeography and macroecology due to their clearly mechanistic, stochastic, and spatially explicit nature and relatively easy and intuitive parametrization. Gotelli et. al (2009) suggest that simulation approach for modeling large-scale species distributions in macroecology helps to deal with challenges of spatial autocorrelation, inter-correlated predictor variables, nonlinear responses of species richness to environmental variables and effects of spatial scale, imposed by traditional curve-fitting methods.

In this thesis, I used spatially explicit mechanistic agent-based simulation models to study biodiversity drivers on real (oceanic) islands as well as in Estonian old-forest fragments.

The main objectives of the thesis were:

- 1. to explore the ability of relatively simple agent-based simulation models to emulate realistic biodiversity patterns and their potential for biogeography and landscape ecology research (I, II, III);
- 2. to disentangle the effects of habitat diversity and archipelago configuration from the effect of island area on biodiversity development in oceanic archipelagos (I);
- 3. to study the imprint of geological and eustatic histories of oceanic archipelagos in their modern biodiversity (II);
- 4. to assess the functional connectivity (or insularity) of the old-forest fragments (III);
- 5. to determine which process (establishment and / or survival) is limiting the old-forest specific biodiversity from exploiting the younger forests between the old-forest fragments (III).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Study areas

All archipelagos used in papers I and II (Hawaiian Islands, Canary Islands and Galápagos Islands in both papers, and Azores and Cape Verde only in paper I) are volcanic hotspot archipelagos. In hotspot archipelagos, tectonic plate motions that carry older islands further away from the mantle plume where new islands emerge, cause different-aged islands to follow each other in age-progressive configuration (Wilson 1963). This, in turn, causes intra-archipelagic dispersal to occur mostly from older to younger islands, and thus, the sequence of colonization of a species group to correspond to the geological ages of islands (known as the progression rule; Funk and Wagner 1995). Hawaii probably represents the most typical example of such stepping-stone pattern, as the islands are very linearly spaced in the archipelago. However, even there the pattern is confounded by the historical fusions and splittings of the islands due to geological developments as well as by the eustatic sea level fluctuations (Price 2004, Price and Elliott-Fisk 2004), and in other archipelagos, the pattern is even less clear. The archipelagos differ significantly in their age, with the oldest of modern Canary Islands being over 20 million years old (Fernández-Palacios and Whittaker 2008) whereas the oldest present-day island of Galápagos archipelago emerged approximately 3 million years ago (Geist et al. 2014).

In paper **III**, I used Estonian fragmented old-growth nemoral forests as a system of insular habitat patches. In Estonia, two forest types prevail: boreal and nemoral forests. Nemoral forests which occur in southern Sweden and east of the Baltic Sea (Metzger et al. 2005) are characterized by neutral to alkaline nutrient rich soils and broad-leaved deciduous trees. They are the most species rich forests of the region, while their species composition significantly differs from the boreal forests (Noreika et al. 2019). In Estonian landscape, old-growth nemoral forests occur as habitat fragments, surrounded by different-aged secondary nemoral and boreal forests and by other natural and anthropogenic ecosystems.

2.2. Biodiversity and abiotic environmental data

In all three papers, using a pattern-oriented modeling approach, simulated data of different scenarios were compared against the empirical data to define scenarios (implemented factors and processes, parameter values) that resulted in most realistic biodiversity patterns. Empirical data from oceanic islands and from 32 Estonian forest sites were used.

For oceanic islands, native species lists of Spermatophyta and Pteridophyta (I and II) and Passeriformes, Lepidoptera and Coleoptera (II) were used from several literature sources (Nishida 2002, Izquierdo et al. 2004, Arechavaleta et al. 2005, 2009, Silva et al. 2005, Boyer 2008, Imada 2012, Jaramillo Díaz and Guézou 2013, Jiménez-Uzcátegui et al. 2014, Illera et al. 2016, Peck 2017, Roque-Álbelo

and Landry 2018, Weigelt et al. 2020). In addition, either the Jaccard similarity index between the islands (I) or proportion of single-island endemics on each island (II) was used.

For Estonian nemoral forest sites (III), I used species richness numbers of different functional groups (ground diversity, epiphytes, ectomycorrhizal (EcM) fungi, arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi, saprotrophic and pathogenic fungi, woody plant diversity, carabid beetles) and empirical abiotic data (soil NPK, soil pH, mean annual temperature, precipitation, spatial coordinates) by Noreika et al. (2019).

2.3. Spatial input data

Empirical landscapes of the oceanic islands and around the forest study sites were represented as raster maps in the simulations. For oceanic archipelagos, I derived present archipelago maps from elevation-bathymetry raster maps (Amante and Eakins 2009, Danielson and Gesch 2011) where one raster cell represented an area of $0.0167^{\circ} \times 0.0167^{\circ}$ (2–3 km², depending on the latitude of the archipelago). These realistic present-day maps were modified in different simulation scenarios in several ways. In paper I and II, island cells were classified into 5-6 habitat types based on their mean elevation. In some scenarios of paper I, I deleted any habitat diversity (all elevations were defined as habitat type 1) to test the effect of habitat diversity. Islands were also shuffled around in the convex hull of the archipelago or in a circle with a diameter equal to the largest extent of the archipelago to test the effect of archipelago spatial configuration (Figure 1). In paper II, I reconstructed greatly simplified geological histories of Hawaii, Galápagos, and Canary Islands, by creating dynamic simulations where each 0.5 Myr was represented by one map that was used for 50 simulation cycles. Simulations started with the emergence of the oldest present-day islands and ended with the modern map - thus using 41 maps for the Canary Islands, 10 for Hawaii and six for Galápagos. Islands emerged in chronological order and increased and decreased in size and elevation during the simulation (Figure 2). In addition, I reconstructed eustatic histories of the same archipelagos, by combining the elevation-bathymetry maps (Amante and Eakins 2009) with historical global sea-level reconstructions (Bintanja et al. 2005). I derived a map for every 10 000 years, which resulted in 100 maps for the last 1 Myr (sea level between 0 and 130 m below present level).



Figure 1. An example of simulation map alterations to study the effect of habitat diversity and archipelago configuration. Hawaiian archipelago with real configuration and habitat diversity (A), real configuration without habitat diversity (B), with convex hull randomization (C) and with circle randomization (D). Modified from paper I.



Geological history

Figure 2. Three illustrative stages of geological history and sea-level fluctuation simulation scenarios in all studied archipelagos. Figure from paper II.

-64 m

–130 m

Cla Gome

0 m

Canary

For Estonian nemoral forest plots (III), I combined four mappings of forested land (from the 1900s, 1940s, 1970s and 2010s) into static maps of different-aged nemoral forests in 5 km radius circles around the old-growth nemoral forest study sites. In this study, one raster cell represented an area of 100×100 m. Similarly to translating island elevation into habitats in paper I and II, here forest occur-

rence in different decades was translated into forest age class. Areas that were classified as forested land only on the map of 2010 were defined as the youngest forests ("Age1"); forested land that was present on the maps of 2010 and 1970s – "Age2"; 2010 and 1940s – "Age3"; 2010s and 1900s – "Age4". All habitats other than nemoral forests were defined as 0, where nemoral forest-specific species couldn't survive (Figure 3).



Non-forest Age1 Age2 Age3 Age4

Figure 3. Simulation maps with four forest-age classes and uninhabitable matrix, representing the empirical landscapes in the 5 km radius surrounding the 32 Estonian nemoral forest sites (black cells in the center) where the observed diversity data of several functional groups were collected. Maps are ordered according to the mean rank of observed species richness of all studied groups (increasing from top left to bottom right). Figure from paper **III**.

2.4. Simulation model

I simulated the dynamics of subpopulations of virtual species either on and among the oceanic islands or in a 5 km radius circle around the old-growth nemoral forest study sites, using empirical landscapes. In papers I and II, immigration, establishment, dispersal, mortality, and speciation processes were simulated. In paper III, simulations operated on ecological timescale, thus excluding speciation but including immigration, establishment, dispersal, and mortality. In all three papers, I then compared simulated diversity of virtual species to the observed diversity of different biodiversity groups to find which simulation scenarios result in the values that have highest correlations with the empirical data. I did not parameterize the model separately for each functional group but correlated the simulated species richness of the virtual species to the observed approach, see section 2.5.).

The stochastic, spatially explicit agent-based simulation model, written in R programming language (R Core Team 2022) simulated dynamics and interactions

of subpopulations of virtual species, using raster maps as simulation arena (see section 2.3.). The operating agent of the model was a subpopulation of a virtual species. Each cell was described by two state variables: habitat type and whether it was empty or inhabited. In papers I and II, subpopulations were described by their position, species identity, species-specific genome, and species-specific phenotype. In that case, randomly generated composition of the genome determined the species dispersal and establishment ability. All subpopulations of the same species were identical (no intraspecific variation) but did not act identically due to stochastic variation. In paper III, only one species was simulated at a time, and subpopulations were characterized only by their position. Spatial scale of the simulation frame varied from about 78 km² (7843 cells) in paper III to on average about 150 000 km² in papers I and II (about 6000 cells).

Each simulation run was initialized with empty islands in papers I and II or with all forest cells occupied by a single species in paper III. The simulation proceeded in distinct time steps. At each time step, some subpopulations immigrated from outside, established a cell, reproduced, dispersed, and died. In papers I and II, some subpopulations also evolved into a new species. Number of time steps varied between 100 (III) and 2050 (II). One time step represented approximately a year in paper III and 10 000 years in paper II. In paper I, time step did not have an explicit meaning.

In papers I and II, several species were simulated together and mainland species pool of 100 species was included; in paper III, one species was simulated at a time and results of 1000 runs were stacked to obtain simulated species richness of virtual species.

Simulation model consisted of several parts, which were run sequentially: immigration, establishment, reproduction together with dispersal, and mortality / survival. Below, these submodels are described.

Immigration: In all scenarios of all papers, at each time step, 10% of the cells received immigrants. That simulated either the arrival from mainland (in I and II) or from outside of the 5 km radius area in paper III. Immigration was non-directional with all cells having equal probability of receiving the immigrants.

Establishment: A subpopulation established an unoccupied cell with the probability determined by the simulation variation and scenario. It varied between 10% and 100%.

Reproduction and dispersal: In all scenarios of all papers, at each time step 40% of all subpopulations (randomly chosen) tried to send a descendant to another cell. Dispersal distance was either dependent on the genome (I and II) or generated randomly (III) but was always described by a negative binomial dispersal kernel and varied randomly due to stochasticity. As a result, most dispersal events occurred quite close to the initial subpopulations and only a few reached longer distances.

Mortality / Survival: At each time step, some subpopulations were randomly removed. The number of removed subpopulations depended on the simulation variation and scenario. Mortality varied between 10% and 25%, while the remaining 75% to 90% subpopulations survived.

Speciation: In papers I and II, at each time step, 0.1% of the subpopulations evolved into a new species by a random change in their genome. Only species that were present on the islands were able to evolve, whereas species in the initial species pool remained unchanged. In paper III, no speciation was implemented.

2.5. Experimental design

In all three papers, different simulation scenarios were contrasted to define crucial factors in biodiversity pattern development:

- in paper I, habitat diversity (no diversity vs diversity) and archipelago spatial configuration (real configuration, convex hull randomization and circle randomization) were used (Figure 1);
- in paper II, one factor in four levels (degree of included historical data: no archipelago history, eustatic history, geological history or both combined) was used (Figure 2);
- in paper III, eight by eight (altogether 64) survival and establishment scenarios were used, which differed in how much they favored older forests over younger ones (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Establishment (A) and survival (B) rates (%) in eight establishment and eight survival scenarios of Estonian nemoral forest simulations. Color intensity indicates the probability of the process. Higher scenario number generally indicates greater differences between the forest-age classes in establishment or survival value (thus, stronger affinity for older forests). Each establishment value was combined with every survival value. Scenarios of both parameters follow a common logic and thus the text explanations apply for both. Figure from paper **III**.

2.6. Statistical analyses

In all three papers, I derived simulated diversity data at the end on the simulation runs and calculated correlations between simulated and observed data. In papers I and II, mean species richness of the final 50 cycles on each island, and either compositional dissimilarity among the islands (Jaccard index, paper I) or the proportion of single-island neo-endemics (paper II) at the end of the simulation were used. In paper III, simulated species richness was obtained by assessing the frequency of inhabited central study cell over the 1000 simulation runs.

In papers I and II, correlations between the log-transformed observed and simulated species richness numbers were then found. In addition, either Spearman correlations between observed and simulated Jaccard index matrices (paper I) or between logit-transformed observed and simulated proportions of single-island endemics (paper II) were found.

In paper III, to remove the effects of environmental factors and spatial autocorrelation, I first calculated the residuals to the linear models, where empirical or simulated species richness was the dependent variable and environmental factors and / or spatial parameters were the independent variables, and then correlated the residuals.

In all cases, after applying Fisher's z-transformation to the correlation coefficients, I used them as dependent variables in linear models to determine the effect of the simulation scenario on the correlation strength. To understand the pairwise differences between the scenarios, I also conducted post hoc comparisons on the model results. In paper II, to determine which islands caused the differences in correlation strength between the simulation scenarios, I also conducted a residual analysis for each simulation run: after standardizing simulated and observed species richness, I calculated residuals from the perfect correlation (i.e., intercept=0, slope=1).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Accordance between the simulated and observed biodiversity

In papers I and II, simulated species richness had strong positive correlations with observed species richness in most cases (Figure 5 and Figure 6). Strongest correlations generally emerged for Hawaii (mean across the species groups was around 0.87 in both papers) and the weakest for Canary Islands (0.25 in paper I, 0.72 in paper II). Mean correlations for compositional dissimilarity (I) varied greatly among archipelagos (from 0.01 for Canary Islands to 0.64 in Hawaii). Mean correlations between simulated and observed proportion of single-island endemics (II) varied between 0.44 (Hawaii) and 0.48 (Canary Islands) (Figure 7).

In paper III, positive correlations were obtained for ground layer and epiphytic vegetation as well as for EcM, saprotrophic, and pathogenic fungi at least in some scenarios (Figure 8). Mean correlations varied from 0.03 in pathogenic fungi to 0.41 in EcM fungi and respective maximum correlations from 0.21 to 0.52. Woody plants, carabid beetles and AM fungi mostly resulted in negative correlations, suggesting that these groups are more dominant in other habitats than forest.

3.2. Island habitat diversity affects species richness and composition in all studied archipelagos, whereas archipelago configuration affects species composition mainly in elongated archipelagos

Habitat diversity significantly increased simulation ability to emulate realistic patterns of species richness and species composition of spermatophytes and pteridophytes in all archipelagos (Figure 5 A, B, E, F). Archipelago configuration had a significant effect on the correlation between simulated and observed compositional dissimilarity in more elongated archipelagos of Hawaii and Azores (Figure 5 G, H). There, real archipelago configuration gave significantly stronger correlations than circle randomization either for both plant species groups (Hawaii) or only for pteridophytes (Azores). In Canary Islands, a significant difference between real configuration and convex hull randomization emerged, but not between real configuration and circle randomization (Figure 5 G).

3.3. In Hawaii and Galápagos, archipelago geological and eustatic histories have both affected species richness and proportion of single-island endemics

In Hawaii and Galápagos, simulation scenarios with more historical information generally increased correlations between simulated and observed biodiversity data. For the species richness of most studied Hawaiian taxa, the scenario with only geological history performed significantly better than the scenario with only eustatic history, and the combined scenario performed significantly better than any other (Figure 6). For the single-island endemics of Hawaii, the historical scenarios performed rather equally, except for spermatophytes, where both scenarios which included geological history performed slightly better than the scenario with only eustatic history (Figure 7). In Galápagos, the effect of implementing only eustatic history was mostly insignificant (except for the species richness of Lepidoptera); implementing only geological history had some effect (on the species richness of Passeriformes, Lepidoptera and Pteridophyta and on the proportion of singleisland endemics of Coleoptera and Spermatophyta), but the combined scenario performed better than the present-day map in almost all cases (except for the singleisland endemics of Lepidoptera) (Figure 6 and Figure 7). In Canary Islands, implementing geological history always significantly decreased simulation performance (Figure 6 and Figure 7). Implementing only eustatic history had no effect on species richness but had a significant positive effect on proportion of single-island endemics of Coleoptera and Spermatophyta (Figure 7).

Results of the residual analyses revealed that in Hawaii, implementing archipelago history generally reduced overestimations of species richness and singleisland endemics on the island of Hawai'i and respective underestimations on Maui, Molokai, Oahu, and Kauai. In Galápagos, implementing history reduced the overestimations on Isabela and underestimations on St. Cruz. In the Canary Islands, implementing history increased the overestimations of the proportion of singleisland endemics on Fuerteventura and Lanzarote and of species richness on Fuerteventura.



Figure 5. Effects of habitat diversity (A,B,E,F) and archipelago composition (C,D,G,H) on species richness (A–D) and species composition (E–H) of spermatophytes and pteridophytes. White bars indicate correlations without habitat diversity ('0') or with real configuration (R). If habitat diversity significantly increases the correlation (post hoc pairwise comparisons), the second bar ('1') is green. If circle ('C') or convex hull ('H') randomization significantly decreases correlations, respective bar is dark blue, otherwise grey. (Haw. – Hawaii, Gal. – Galápagos, Can. – Canary Islands, C.V. – Cape Verde, Az. – Azores). Figure from paper **I**.



Figure 6. Effects of geological and eustatic history on correlations between simulated and observed species richness of Passeriformes, Coleoptera, Lepidoptera, Pteridophyta and Spermatophyta. Same letter (and box color) indicates no significant difference between the scenarios. (EUS = eustatic sea-level fluctuations; GEOL = geological history; GEOLEUS = geological history and eustatic sea-level fluctuations; PR = present map). Figure from paper II.



Figure 7. Effects of geological and eustatic history on correlations between simulated and observed proportion of single-island endemics of Coleoptera, Lepidoptera and Spermatophyta. Same letter (and box color) indicates no significant difference between the scenarios. (EUS = eustatic sea-level fluctuations; GEOL = geological history; GEO-LEUS = geological history and eustatic sea-level fluctuations; PR = present map). Figure from paper **II**.

3.4. Estonian old-growth nemoral forest fragments are not functionally well connected by the younger secondary forests for several functional groups

In forest fragment simulations, most realistic species richness patterns of ground layer vegetation, epiphytes, EcM fungi and pathogens were achieved by the scenarios which defined large differences in establishment values between younger and older forests. Correlation strength culminated in the three most extreme scenarios with establishment values 10-15-95-100, 10-25-50-100 and 10-15-30-100 in different-aged forests (Figure 8 A–D). Common characteristic of all these three scenarios that distinguishes them from other five scenarios is the low establishment value in the second forest age-class, in approximately 40-50-year-old forests (see Figure 4). However, in saprotrophs, an opposite trend emerged: more differentiation between forest age classes resulted in weaker correlations and the strongest correlations were achieved in the scenario which treated all forests equal regardless of their age (Figure 8 E).

3.5. Establishment is the main limiting factor behind the old-forest affinity

Although establishment and survival rate both had significant effect on correlation strength between simulated and observed species richness across all functional groups, survival value had no significant effect on correlation strength in ground layer, epiphytes, or EcM fungi (Figure 8 F–H). Only in pathogens and saprotrophs, some differences emerged. For pathogens, survival scenario which defined equal survival values in all forest age classes, resulted in negative correlations, whereas in other scenarios correlations slightly increased (Figure 8 I). For saprotrophs, correlations decreased towards more differentiation between the forest age groups, similarly to the trend among the establishment scenarios (Figure 8 J). These results suggest dominance of establishment limitation over the survival limitation.



Figure 8. Effects of establishment (A - E) and survival (F - J) scenarios on correlations between simulated and observed species richness of different forest biodiversity functional groups. Higher scenario number generally indicates greater differences between the forest-age classes in establishment or survival value (thus, stronger affinity for older forests). Letters indicate the significant difference between the scenarios: scenarios that do not share a letter, differ significantly. Color gradient illustrates correlation strength. Figure from paper III.

4. DISCUSSION

Oceanic islands and habitat fragments share several common properties and therefore, landscape ecology and island biogeography have developed by inspiring each other. That much so, that leading theories of the two fields have been even called different aspects of the same, a more general model ('spatially realistic metapopulation theory', Hanski 2001). Immigration and extinction dynamics, clear spatial distinction of the populations, as well as the conservational priority make both, real oceanic islands and habitat fragments, valuable study objects. The overall aim of this thesis was to explore the biodiversity drivers in these systems, that are characterized by the underlying effect of spatial and functional isolation.

Using agent-based simulations with pattern-oriented approach, I was able to emulate the emergence of realistic biodiversity patterns in oceanic archipelagos and in Estonian forests, and to gain knowledge of crucial processes behind these patterns. In paper I, simulation approach enabled me to disentangle the effects of habitat diversity and archipelago configuration from island area. In paper II, I was able to reconstruct the archipelago histories and in paper III, simulations helped me to gain mechanistic knowledge of processes behind the old-forest affinity. All these tasks are hard to achieve via field studies or statistical methods alone. In my thesis I showed that passive dispersal can successfully be studied with the help of agent-based models and that due to their clearly mechanistic, stochastic, and spatially explicit nature, they are a useful tool for both large-scale biogeography studies as well as for smaller-scale landscape ecology.

In papers I and II, I explored the factors that affect biodiversity development in oceanic hotspot archipelagos, thereby taking a step forward from island area and isolation. Although the relatively high overall correlations between simulated and observed data in both island studies indirectly confirmed the essential effect of island area, the significant increase in correlation strength when additional factors were implemented, clearly demonstrated their importance. Especially pronounced was the effect of habitat diversity (I), which increased the correlation strengths for species richness as well as for species composition in all studied archipelagos. These findings agree with empirical works which have shown either globally (Kreft et al. 2008, Hortal et al. 2009, Barajas-Barbosa et al. 2020) or in single archipelagos (Duarte et al. 2008 – Cape Verde, Roell et al. 2021– Galápagos) that although island area is a crucial determinant of biodiversity, it does not fully override nor reflect the additional effect of habitat diversity on insular species richness.

Archipelago configuration affected species composition in elongated archipelagos, such as Hawaii and Azores, where circle randomization profoundly altered the overall connectivity of the archipelagos (I). However, archipelago spatial configuration did not affect species richness, which refers to the prevailing effect of other factors such as island area and habitat diversity, while species composition is more sensitive to the effect of archipelago configuration. This result agrees with a global study by Cabral et al (2014) who found island species richness as well as archipelago species richness to be strongly affected by the biogeography and climate, whereas beta-diversity was mostly explained by the archipelago structure. The importance of archipelago structure both on island diversity and endemism has been also demonstrated in hypothetical archipelagos by Gascuel et al. (2016) with a spatially explicit neutral simulation model and by Aguilée et al. (2021) with an individual-based model which accounted for the spatio-temporal dynamics of the archipelagos. In contrast, in Galápagos and Cape Verde, I did not detect any effect of configuration randomization. This can be attributed owning to the more compact archipelago configuration, combined with more complex geological development of the archipelago which have been shown to alter the dispersal patterns between the islands (Carvalho et al. 2015).

In paper II, I demonstrated that the modern biodiversity of Hawaii and Galápagos is not fully adjusted to their current geography. Simulation scenarios, which concerned geological history, significantly decreased overestimations of native and endemic species richness on the youngest islands of both archipelagos. These results imply that despite the effect of habitat loss on the oldest islands (Price 2004), time available for immigration and speciation is a limiting factor of biodiversity variation on the entire archipelago level in the relatively young archipelagos, such as Hawaii and Galápagos. In Hawaii, historical dynamics also reduced the underestimation of species richness on Maui, Moloka'i and O'ahu, confirming the importance of the higher historical connectivity between these islands (Price and Elliott-Fisk 2004). Similarly, archipelago ontogeny has been demonstrated to significantly increase performance of grid-based island biodiversity simulations by Chalmandrier et al. (2018) and by Cabral et al. (2019b). However, a recent simulation study by Santos Neves (2022) showed that ignoring geodynamics still gave reasonable simulation results for isolated oceanic archipelagos. Combining the results of papers I and II, it appears that stronger reflection of historical (temporal) dynamics in the modern archipelago (spatial) configuration is why I found latter to strongly affect modern biodiversity patterns in Hawaii (I). On the contrary, in Galápagos, the complex patterns of landmass developments have caused more derivations from stepping-stone pattern, such as back-colonization events (Carvalho et al. 2015) and therefore, meaningful spatio-temporal patterns were first emulated by implementing geological history in paper II (but not by modern archipelago configuration in paper I).

In Canary Islands, implementing geological history even decreased correlations. It was mostly caused by the increased overestimation of single-island endemism (and to lesser degree, also of species richness) for the oldest and most degraded islands because of their increased availability for immigration and speciation in relation to younger islands of the archipelago. Thus, in contrary to Hawaii and Galápagos, in an old and mainland-close archipelago such as Canary Islands, erosion and consequent extinctions have become a limiting process. Also Carvalho et al. (2015) showed that whereas dispersal patterns in Hawaii can be successfully described by a relatively simple stepping-stone network model, much more complex patterns are needed for Canary Islands and Azores. Implementing eustatic history improved simulation performance in all three archipelagos, although, in Canary Islands the effect was significant only on single-island endemics and not on total species richness (II). This finding is in line with other works that have demonstrated that although total species richness might adjust to the area change relatively quickly, endemic biodiversity patterns can have long-lasting legacies of historical connections and island areas (Weigelt et al. 2016, Norder et al. 2019).

In paper **III**, I approached another aspect of connectivity: the properties of the suboptimal habitat around the habitat fragments. I asked, how well are the Estonian old-forest fragments functionally connected by the surrounding secondary forests for several passively or slowly dispersing functional groups. I found ground layer vegetation, epiphytes, EcM and pathogenetic fungi to show dependence on old-forest availability in the surrounding of old-forest habitats: the more the simulation scenario favored the oldest forests over the other age classes, the better was the fit between the simulation results and observed data. However, saprotrophs followed an opposite trend: the most realistic biodiversity patterns were obtained by not differentiating between the forest age classes at all. This contrast might be caused by the more generalist strategy of saprotrophs who take over the former open habitat at the beginning of the secondary forest formation, whereas over the course of forest succession, ectomycorrhizal fungi start providing them competition (Cairney and Meharg 2002).

Several possible mechanisms have been proposed to explain the higher species richness in older forests. Similarly to oceanic islands, time that forest has been available for immigration (in landscape ecology, often called 'habitat continuity') in combination with dispersal limitation can be important, if forest-specific species are not locally available (e.g. Randlane et al. 2017). However, the effect of habitat quality has been found to often prevail over the habitat continuity (Nordén and Appelqvist 2001). Diverse old forest offers several microhabitats for different species, as well as buffers the hostile environmental conditions. In paper III, I compared the effects of establishment and survival processes and found biodiversity of ground layer vegetation, epiphytes and EcM fungi to be clearly dominated by the establishment limitation. This finding is in line with many empirical studies from Estonia and Northern Europe that have found the suitable substrata to be of crucial importance in the oldest forests for lichens, fungi, and bryophytes (Fenton and Bergeron 2008, Lõhmus and Lõhmus 2011, Runnel and Lõhmus 2017). Specifically, I found that strongest correlations were obtained by low establishment probability in the abundant 40-50-year-old forests which have probably resulted from the abandonment of small farms, fields, and grasslands in the 1970s. Interestingly, no clear pattern revealed for the 70-80-year-old forests (contrasting scenarios gave similar results), although the minimum forest age to receive and support specific old-growth biodiversity has been typically shown to be even higher in Estonia (~100 years, Lõhmus & Lõhmus 2011) as well as elsewhere in Europe (200 years, or at least two or three generations, Graae 2000, Fritz et al. 2008, Dittrich et al. 2013). Nevertheless, these results clearly indicate that for most functional groups, middle-aged forests, developed on former agricultural land, do not yet functionally connect the old forest patches.

My aim in this thesis was not to achieve real absolute species numbers but realistic biodiversity patterns among the islands and Estonian nemoral old-forest patches. In general, higher correlations were obtained in island studies (I and II), than for Estonian forests (III), which agrees with the well-established understanding of oceanic islands as relatively simple natural model systems (Vitousek 2002, Warren et al. 2015). As discussed above, among the archipelagos, Hawaii showed the highest correlations between the observed and simulated species richness and always gave expected results in the scenario comparisons, whereas the biotas of other archipelagos proved more complicated to emulate. For instance, in Canary Islands, proximity of the mainland, prevailing winds and currents, and repeated volcanic activity, which has 'restarted' species accumulation on the islands, may all have had a significant effect on biodiversity development. Several additional processes, acting on different ecological levels (such as trophic interactions, intraspecific variation, demographics, metabolic constraint, natural and anthropogenic disturbances) have been argued to be important to consider in models for obtaining realistic biogeographical or macroecological patterns (Cabral et al. 2017, 2019b, Leidinger and Cabral 2017, Hagen et al. 2021).

However, using correlation strength between simulated and empirical data as a dependent variable in statistical models assumes some variation in the correlation strength. Moreover, low correlations or unexpected scenario comparisons can be helpful in detecting data gaps or differences among the study objects. For example, in paper II, an unexpected decrease in correlation strength if geological history was implemented in Canary Islands, referred to the crucial role of habitat loss owning to erosion. In paper III, contrasting trend of saprotrophs and only negative correlations in woody plants, AM fungi and carabid beetles pointed at their different ecology and that their diversity patterns could be possibly emulated by a different simulation model. It might be attempting to parametrize a simulation model to the best achievable fit with the empirical data. However, because of the inevitable trade-off between the model universality and realism, the necessity of additional details should always be weighed carefully. A more complex model does not necessarily lead to more realistic results, but it does always add additional uncertainty (Cabral et al. 2017).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Based on the results presented in this study, I conclude that:

- 1. Relatively simple agent-based simulation models could largely emulate natural patterns on oceanic islands (I and II) and although with somewhat smaller accuracy in Estonian forest fragments (III). This simultaneously demonstrates the relative simplicity of the island biotas and their role as ecological model systems as well as the usefulness of agent-based models for biogeography and landscape ecology. Their spatially explicit and mechanistic nature, together with pattern-oriented approach offers an intuitive and well-controllable approach for large-scale virtual experiments that are not feasible in the real world. Thus, they are a powerful tool for understanding biodiversity patterns of both real and habitat islands, as well as for predicting and avoiding biodiversity losses in these systems.
- 2. Despite the strong island area effect, habitat diversity and archipelago configuration are significant drivers of biodiversity on oceanic islands. Habitat diversity had strong effect in all studied archipelagos and on species richness as well as on species composition (I). Archipelago configuration had significant effect only in elongated archipelagos and affected species composition but not species richness (I).
- 3. Modern biodiversity of oceanic archipelagos carries legacies of the geological and eustatic processes of the past. Archipelago history and consequent spatio-temporal connectivity had a slightly stronger effect on proportion of single-island endemics than on total species richness (II).
- 4. Young and middle-aged forests are not supporting functional connectivity among the Estonian nemoral old-forest fragments for several forest-specific functional groups, such as ground layer vegetation, epiphytes, EcM and pathogenic fungi, and this obstacle has a significant effect on their biodiversity in old-forest patches (III).
- 5. Establishment limitation dominates over survival limitation in young to middle-aged forests, suggesting that microhabitat availability is the most important mechanism behind the old-forest affinity. Especially significant proved to be the effect of the abundant 40–50-year-old secondary forests on former agricultural land. On the other hand, functional connectivity among the forest fragments is strongly group-specific: while for most studied groups forest fragments can be considered almost as islands, saprotrophic fungi can successfully exploit the younger forests as well.

REFERENCES

- Aguilée, R. et al. 2021. Biogeographic drivers of community assembly on oceanic islands: The importance of archipelago structure and history. – J Biogeogr 48: 2616–2628.
- Amante, C. and Eakins, B. W. 2009. ETOPO1 1 Arc-Minute Global Relief Model: Procedures, Data Sources and Analysis. – NOAA Technical Memorandum NESDIS NGDC-24
- Arechavaleta, M. et al. 2005. Lista preliminar de especies silvestres de Cabo Verde (hongos, plantas y animales terrestres). – Consejeria de Medio Ambiente y Ordenacion Territorial, Gobierno de Canarias.
- Arechavaleta, M. et al. 2009. Lista de especies silvestres de Canarias. Hongos, plantas y animales terrestres. Gobierno de Canarias.
- Barajas-Barbosa, M. P. et al. 2020. Environmental heterogeneity dynamics drive plant diversity on oceanic islands. J Biogeogr 47: 2248–2260.
- Bintanja, R. et al. 2005. Modelled atmospheric temperatures and global sea levels over the past million years. Nature 437: 125–128.
- Borges, P. A. V. and Hortal, J. 2009. Time, area and isolation: factors driving the diversification of Azorean arthropods. – J Biogeogr 36: 178–191.
- Borregaard, M. K. et al. 2016. The general dynamic model: towards a unified theory of island biogeography? Global Ecology and Biogeography 25: 805–816.
- Botkin, D. B. et al. 1972. Some Ecological Consequences of a Computer Model of Forest Growth. J Ecol 60: 849–872.
- Boyer, A. G. 2008. Extinction patterns in the avifauna of the Hawaiian islands. Divers Distrib 14: 509–517.
- Brown, J. H. and Kodric-Brown, A. 1977. Turnover Rates in Insular Biogeography: Effect of Immigration on Extinction. Ecology 58: 445–449.
- Bush, M. B. and Whittaker, R. J. 1993. Non-Equilibration in Island Theory of Krakatau. J Biogeogr 20: 453–457.
- Cabral, J. S. et al. 2014. Biogeographic, climatic and spatial drivers differentially affect α -, β and γ -diversities on oceanic archipelagos. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281: 20133246.
- Cabral, J. S. et al. 2017. Mechanistic simulation models in macroecology and biogeography: state-of-art and prospects. – Ecography 40: 267–280.
- Cabral, J. S. et al. 2019a. Assessing predicted isolation effects from the general dynamic model of island biogeography with an eco-evolutionary model for plants. J Biogeogr 46: 1569–1581.
- Cabral, J. S. et al. 2019b. Interactions between ecological, evolutionary and environmental processes unveil complex dynamics of insular plant diversity. – J Biogeogr 46: 1582–1597.
- Cairney, J. W. G. and Meharg, A. A. 2002. Interactions between ectomycorrhizal fungi and soil saprotrophs: Implications for decomposition of organic matter in soils and degradation of organic pollutants in the rhizosphere. – Canadian Journal of Botany 80: 803–809.
- Cardoso, P. et al. 2010. Drivers of diversity in Macaronesian spiders and the role of species extinctions. J Biogeogr 37: 1034–1046.
- Carvalho, J. C. et al. 2015. Modeling directional spatio-temporal processes in island biogeography. Ecol Evol 5: 4671–4682.
- Chalmandrier, L. et al. 2018. Comparing spatial diversification and meta-population models in the indo-Australian Archipelago. R Soc Open Sci 5: 171366.

- Cornell, H. V. and Harrison, S. P. 2014. What are species pools and when are they important? – Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 45: 45–67.
- Danielson, J. J. and Gesch, D. B. 2011. Global Multi-resolution Terrain Elevation Data 2010(GMTED2010). – U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2011–1073
- DeAngelis, D. L. and Mooij, W. M. 2005. Individual-Based Modeling of Ecological and Evolutionary Processes. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36: 147–168.
- Diamond, J. M. 1975. The island dilemma: Lessons of modern biogeographic studies for the design of natural reserves. Biol Conserv 7: 129–146.
- Dittrich, S. et al. 2013. Separating forest continuity from tree age effects on plant diversity in the ground and epiphyte vegetation of a Central European mountain spruce forest. – Flora: Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants 208: 238–246.
- Duarte, M. C. et al. 2008. Plant species richness in the Cape Verde Islands eco-geographical determinants. – Biodivers Conserv 17: 453–466.
- Fenton, N. J. and Bergeron, Y. 2008. Does time or habitat make old-growth forests species rich? Bryophyte richness in boreal Picea mariana forests. – Biol Conserv 141: 1389–1399.
- Fernández-Palacios, J. M. and Whittaker, R. J. 2008. The Canaries: An important biogeographical meeting place. – J Biogeogr 35: 379–387.
- Fritz, Ö. et al. 2008. Does forest continuity matter in conservation? A study of epiphytic lichens and bryophytes in beech forests of southern Sweden. – Biol Conserv 141: 655– 668.
- Funk, V. A. and Wagner, W. L. 1995. Biogeographic patterns in the Hawaiian Islands. In: Wagner, W. L. and Funk, V. A. (eds), Hawaiian Biogeography: Evolution on a Hot Spot Archipelago. Smithsonian Institution Press, pp. 379–419.
- Gascuel, F. et al. 2016. The effects of archipelago spatial structure on island diversity and endemism: predictions from a spatially-structured neutral model. Evolution (N Y) 70: 2657–2666.
- Geist, D. J. et al. 2014. A paleogeographic model of the Galápagos Islands and biogeographic and evolutionary implications. – In: The Galapagos: A Natural Laboratory for the Earth Sciences, Geophysical Monograph 204. pp. 145–166.
- Gilpin, M. E. and Diamond, J. M. 1976. Calculation of immigration and extinction curves from the species-area-distance relation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73: 4130–4134.
- Gotelli, N. J. et al. 2009. Patterns and causes of species richness: a general simulation model for macroecology. Ecol Lett 12: 873–886.
- Graae, B. J. 2000. The Effect of Landscape Fragmentation and Forest Continuity on Forest Floor Species in Two Regions of Denmark. – Journal of Vegetation Science 11: 881–892.
- Grimm, V. et al. 2005. Pattern-oriented modeling of agent-based complex systems: lessons from ecology. Science (1979) 310: 987–991.
- Hagen, O. 2022. Coupling eco-evolutionary mechanisms with deep-time environmental dynamics to understand biodiversity patterns. Ecography 2022: e06132.
- Hagen, O. et al. 2021. gen3sis: A general engine for eco-evolutionary simulations of the processes that shape Earth's biodiversity. PLoS Biol 19: 1–31.
- Hanski, I. 1998. Metapopulation dynamics. Nature 396: 41–49.
- Hanski, I. 2001. Spatially realistic theory of metapopulation ecology. Naturwissenschaften 88: 372–381.
- Hanski, I. and Simberloff, D. 1997. The Metapopulation Approach, Its History, Conceptual Domain, and Application to Conservation. In: Hanski, I. and Gilpin, M. E. (eds), Metapopulation Biology. pp. 5–26.

- Heaney, L. R. 2000. Dynamic disequilibrium: a long-term, large-scale perspective on the equilibrium model of island biogeography. Global Ecology and Biogeography 9: 59–74.
- Hortal, J. et al. 2009. Island species richness increases with habitat diversity. American Naturalist 174: E205-17.
- Illera, J. C. et al. 2016. What are We Learning about Speciation and Extinction from the Canary Islands? Ardeola 63: 15–33.
- Imada, C. 2012. Hawaiian Native and Naturalized Vascular Plants Checklist (December 2012 update) (C Imada, Ed.). Hawaiian Native and Naturalized Vascular Plants Checklist
- Izquierdo, I. et al. 2004. Lista de especies silvestres de Canarias (hongos, plantas y animales terrestres). – Consejería de Medio Ambiente y Ordenación Territorial, Gobierno de Canarias.
- Jaramillo Díaz, P. and Guézou, A. 2013. CDF Checklist of Galapagos Vascular Plants FCD Lista de especies de Plantas Vasculares de Galápagos (F Bungartz, H Herrera, P Jaramillo, N Tirado, G Jiménez-Uzcátegui, D Ruiz, A Guézou, and F Ziemmeck, Eds.). – Charles Darwin Foundation / Fundación Charles Darwin.
- Jiménez-Uzcátegui, G. et al. 2014. CDF Checklist of Galapagos Birds (F Bungartz, H Herrera, P Jaramillo, N Tirado, G Jiménez-Uzcátegui, D Ruiz, A Guézou, and F Ziemmeck, Eds.). Charles Darwin Foundation / Fundación Charles Darwin.
- Kazmierczak, M. et al. 2016. Monodominance in tropical forests: modelling reveals emerging clusters and phase transitions. J R Soc Interface 13: 20160123.
- Kreft, H. et al. 2008. Global diversity of island floras from a macroecological perspective. – Ecol Lett 11: 116–127.
- Kupfer, J. A. et al. 2006. Not seeing the ocean for the islands: The mediating influence of matrix-based processes on forest fragmentation effects. – Global Ecology and Biogeography 15: 8–20.
- Leidinger, L. and Cabral, J. S. 2017. Biodiversity dynamics on Islands: Explicitly accounting for causality in mechanistic models. Diversity (Basel) 9: 30.
- Levins, R. 1969. Some Demographic and Genetic Consequences of Environmental Heterogeneity for Biological Control. – Bulletin of the Entomological Society of America 15: 237–240.
- Lõhmus, A. and Lõhmus, P. 2011. Old-forest species: The importance of specific substrata vs. stand continuity in the case of calicioid fungi. – Silva Fennica 45: 1015–1039.
- MacArthur, R. H. and Wilson, E. O. 1963. An Equilibrium Theory of Insular Zoogeography. – Evolution (N Y) 17: 373–387.
- Matthews, T. J. et al. 2020. The effect of species extinctions on island biogeographic patterns. Ecol Res 35: 372–381.
- Metzger, A. M. J. et al. 2005. A Climatic Stratification of the Environment of Europe Linked references are available on JSTOR for this article : A climatic stratification of the environment of Europe. 14: 549–563.
- Nishida, G. M. 2002. Bishop Museum-Hawaiian Arthropod Checklist. Bishop Museum, The State Museum of Natural and Cultural History.
- Nordén, B. and Appelqvist, T. 2001. Conceptual problems of ecological continuity and its bioindicators. Biodivers Conserv 10: 779–791.
- Nordén, B. et al. 2014. Effects of ecological continuity on species richness and composition in forests and woodlands: A review. Ecoscience 21: 34–45.

- Norder, S. J. et al. 2019. Beyond the Last Glacial Maximum: Island endemism is best explained by long-lasting archipelago configurations. – Global Ecology and Biogeography 28: 184–197.
- Noreika, N. et al. 2019. Forest biomass, soil and biodiversity relationships originate from biogeographic affinity and direct ecological effects. Oikos 128: 1653–1665.
- Peck, S. B. 2017. CDF Checklist of Galapagos Beetles FCD Lista de especies de Escarabajos Galápagos. (F Bungartz, H Herrera, P Jaramillo, N Tirado, G Jiménez-Uzcátegui, D Ruiz, A Guézou, and F Ziemmeck, Eds.). – Charles Darwin Foundation / Fundación Charles Darwin.
- Price, J. P. 2004. Floristic biogeography of the Hawaiian Islands: influences of area, environment and paleogeography. J Biogeogr 31: 487–500.
- Price, J. P. and Elliott-Fisk, D. 2004. Topographic history of the Maui Nui complex, Hawai'i, and its implications for biogeography. – Pac Sci 58: 27–45.
- R Core Team 2022. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.
- Randlane, T. et al. 2017. Diversity of lichens and bryophytes in hybrid aspen plantations in Estonia depends on landscape structure. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 47: 1202–1214.
- Roell, Y. E. et al. 2021. Effect of topographic complexity on species richness in the Galápagos Islands. – J Biogeogr 48: 2645–2655.
- Rohwäder, M. S. and Jeltsch, F. 2022. Foraging personalities modify effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Oikos 2022: e09056.
- Roque-Álbelo, L. and Landry, B. 2018. CDF Checklist of Galapagos Butterflies and Moths – FCD Lista de especies de Mariposas y polillas Galápagos. (F Bungartz, H Herrera, P Jaramillo, N Tirado, G Jiménez-Uzcátegui, D Ruiz, A Guézou, and F Ziemmeck, Eds.). – Charles Darwin Foundation / Fundación Charles Darwin.
- Rosenberg, D. K. et al. 1997. Biological corridors: Form, function, and efficacy. Linear conservation areas may function as biological corridors, but they may not mitigate against additional habitat loss. – Bioscience 47: 677–687.
- Rosindell, J. and Phillimore, A. B. 2011. A unified model of island biogeography sheds light on the zone of radiation. Ecol Lett 14: 552–560.
- Rosindell, J. and Harmon, L. J. 2013. A unified model of species immigration, extinction and abundance on islands. J Biogeogr 40: 1107–1118.
- Runnel, K. and Lõhmus, A. 2017. Deadwood-rich managed forests provide insights into the old-forest association of wood-inhabiting fungi. Fungal Ecol 27: 155–167.
- Santos Neves, P. et al. 2022. The robustness of a simple dynamic model of island biodiversity to geological and sea-level change. – J Biogeogr 49: 2091–2104.
- Schoener, T. W. 2010. The MacArthur-Wilson equilibrium model a chronicle of what it said and how it was tested. – In: Losos, J. B. and Ricklefs, R. E. (eds), The Theory of Island Biogeography Revisited. Princeton University Press, pp. 52–87.
- Silva, L. et al. 2005. List of vascular plants (Pteridophyta and Spermatophyta). In: Borges, P. A. V. et al. (eds), A list of the terrestrial fauna (Mollusca and Arthropoda) and flora (Bryophyta, Pteridophyta and Spermatophyta) from the Azores. Direcção Regional do Ambiente and Universidade dos Açores, pp. 131–156.
- Taylor, P. D. et al. 1993. Connectivity Is a Vital Element of Landscape Structure. Oikos 68: 571–573.
- Terborgh, J. 1975. Faunal Equilibria and the Design of Wildlife Preserves. In: Tropical Ecological Systems. pp. 369–380.
- Tischendorf, L. and Fahrig, L. 2000. On the usage and measurement of landscape connectivity. – Oikos 90: 7–19.

- Trapp, S. E. et al. 2019. Modeling impacts of landscape connectivity on dispersal movements of northern flying squirrels (Glaucomys sabrinus griseifrons). – Ecol Modell 394: 44–52.
- Travis, J. M. J. et al. 2005. The interplay of positive and negative species interactions across an environmental gradient: insights from an individual-based simulation model. – Biol Lett 1: 5–8.
- Valente, L. M. et al. 2015. Equilibrium and non-equilibrium dynamics simultaneously operate in the Galápagos islands. Ecol Lett 18: 844–852.
- Vitousek, P. M. 2002. Oceanic islands as model systems for ecological studies. J Biogeogr 29: 573–582.
- Warren, B. H. et al. 2015. Islands as model systems in ecology and evolution: Prospects fifty years after MacArthur-Wilson. Ecol Lett 18: 200–217.
- Weigelt, P. and Kreft, H. 2013. Quantifying island isolation insights from global patterns of insular plant species richness. Ecography 36: 417–429.
- Weigelt, P. et al. 2016. Late Quaternary climate change shapes island biodiversity. Nature 532: 99–102.
- Weigelt, P. et al. 2020. GIFT A Global Inventory of Floras and Traits for macroecology and biogeography. J Biogeogr 47: 16–43.
- Whittaker, R. J. and Fernández-Palacios, J. M. 2007. Island Biogeography: Ecology, Evolution, and Conservation. Oxford University Press.
- Whittaker, R. J. et al. 2008. A general dynamic theory of oceanic island biogeography. J Biogeogr 35: 977–994.
- Willerslev, E. et al. 2002. Number of endemic and native plant species in the Galápagos Archipelago in relation to geographical parameters. Ecography 25: 109–119.
- Wilson, J. T. 1963. A Possible Origin of the Hawaiian Islands. Can J Phys 41: 863-870.
- Xiao, S. et al. 2010. The effects of species pool, dispersal and competition on the diversity-productivity relationship. – Global Ecology and Biogeography 19: 343–351.
- Zeller, K. A. et al. 2020. Forecasting seasonal habitat connectivity in a developing landscape. – Land (Basel) 9: 233.
- Zobel, M. 2016. The species pool concept as a framework for studying patterns of plant diversity. Journal of Vegetation Science 27: 8–18.

SUMMARY

Oceanic islands and habitat fragments within landscapes are both valuable ecological study objects, characterized by clear physical boundaries, immigration and extinction dynamics of well-defined populations, and high conservational priority. Therefore, the most influential model of island studies – theory of island biogeography – was historically also adopted to study the fragmented landscapes. Similarly, when later metapopulation theory gained popularity among landscape ecologist, it also inspired island biogeographers. Both theories emphasize the importance of spatial arrangement of individuals and populations and resulting ecological interactions and have been even called different aspects of a same theory. Classically, island biogeography and landscape ecology have been dominated by correlational methods and thus often mechanisms behind the biodiversity patterns have staved unsettled. For example, the effects of island habitat diversity, archipelago configuration and island history on its biodiversity are hard to disentangle from the well-established effects of island area and isolation. Similarly, the mechanisms behind the forest connectivity and old-forest affinity of forest-specific biota are unclear.

In this thesis, I mechanistically explored the biodiversity drivers in oceanic archipelagos (Hawaii, Galápagos, Canary Islands, Cape Verde, Azores) and Estonian old-forest fragments, that are both characterized by spatial and functional isolation. I used spatially explicit agent-based simulation models together with empirical biodiversity data and compared different simulation scenarios in their ability to emulate realistic biodiversity patters. In paper I, I showed that despite the substantial effect of island area, implementing habitat diversity in simulations always increased correlations between the simulated and observed plant species richness and composition, demonstrating the additional effect of varying environments. Implementing realistic archipelago configuration instead of randomizations proved to be important for gaining more realistic species composition patterns in elongated archipelagos, such as Hawaii and Azores, but did not affect species richness. This result again indirectly refers to the crucial role of island area for species richness development, whereas species composition is more sensitive to additional drivers. In Galápagos and Cape Verde, I did not find any effect of using real modern archipelago configuration, which hinted at the overriding role of more complex spatio-temporal development of these archipelagos. This hypothesis was also supported by the results of paper II, where simulation scenarios which accounted for the geological and eustatic archipelago history, resulted in significantly more realistic results on the native and endemic species richness of birds, plants and insects of Hawaii and Galápagos, than the scenarios using static present-day maps. In Canary Islands, implementing eustatic history significantly increased the correlations but geological history had no positive effect, which referred to the importance of other processes, such as habitat degradation or repeated volcanic activity in this very old archipelago.

In paper III, I approached another aspect of connectivity: the properties of the suboptimal habitat around the Estonian nemoral old-forest fragments. Despite the apparent similarity, there is a crucial difference between oceanic islands and habitat fragments. Unlike real islands, isolation of habitat patches is not solely affected by their spatial arrangement, but also by organisms' response to the surrounding landscape, or the 'functional connectivity'. Estonian old-forest fragments are surrounded by non-forest and anthropogenic habitats, but also by younger secondary forests on former agricultural land. Whereas grasslands or anthropogenic landscapes might be totally uninhabitable for old-forest specific biodiversity, these secondary forests could be inhabitable to some degree. Therefore, I asked, how well are the Estonian old-forest fragments functionally connected by the surrounding younger forests for passively or slowly dispersing organisms. I found for ground layer vegetation, epiphytes, EcM and pathogenetic fungi, that the more the simulation scenario favored the oldest forests over the other age classes in terms of establishment and survival probabilities, the more realistic were the simulation results. This clearly indicates that for most functional groups, secondary forests on former agricultural land do not functionally connect the oldforest fragments. In contrast, the most realistic biodiversity patterns on saprotrophs were obtained by not differentiating between the forest age classes at all, hinting that for this group, forest connectivity is not limited by the age of the forest in the surrounding landscape. I also compared the effects of establishment and survival processes and found biodiversity of ground layer vegetation, epiphytes and EcM fungi to be clearly dominated by the establishment limitation, confirming the understanding of old-forest affinity being mainly caused by microhabitat limitation.

In conclusion, biodiversity in oceanic archipelagos and habitat fragments develops as a result of many interacting factors, which are often hard to disentangle in the nature. Spatially explicit and intuitively parametrizable agent-based models allow us to create virtual experiments for gaining mechanistic knowledge which is crucial for predicting and avoiding biodiversity losses in these isolated and valuable systems.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Elurikkust kujundavad tegurid ookeanisaarestikes ja killustunud elupaikades uurituna agendipõhiste mudelitega

Saari peetakse ideaalseteks ökoloogilisteks mudelsüsteemideks nende selgete füüsiliste piiride ja defineeritavate populatsioonide tõttu. Samuti on sajandeid teadlaste tähelepanu köitnud saarte eripärane ja kergesti haavatav elustik ning kõrge endeemsete liikide osakaal. Ookeanisaared, mis pole kunagi mandriga ühenduses olnud, sobivad uurimaks, kuidas elurikkus kujuneb sisserände ja evolutsiooni koosmõjul. Peale selle toimivad ookeanisaarestikud huvitavate võrgustikena, kus saarte paiknemine üksteise suhtes mõjutab liikide levimist. Sarnased võrgustikud on inimtegevuse tagajärjel tekkinud killustunud elupaigad, seda nii looduskaitselise olulisuse pärast kui ka selle poolest, et pakuvad võimalust uurida rohkem või vähem isoleeritud populatsioonide dünaamikat. Seetõttu on ookeanisaarte ja killustunud koosluste uurimine aastakümneid arenenud käsikäes.

R. MacArthuri ja E. O. Wilsoni poolt 1963. aastal avaldatud saarte biogeograafia tasakaaluteooria pani aluse nii saarte kui ka elupaigalaikude liigirikkuse dünaamilisele käsitlusele. Teooria põhiidee järgi suurendab saare väiksem isoleeritus tõenäosust liikide sisserändeks, samal ajal kui liikide väljasuremise tõenäosus on väiksem suuremal saarel. Kahe protsessi vahel tekib dünaamiline tasakaal, mis hojab liikide arvu saarel enam-vähem muutumatuna, kuna mõlemad protsessid sõltuvad ka saarel juba olemasolevate liikide arvust. Hiljem on sellele teooriale küll ette heidetud mitmete tegurite (nagu elupaikade mitmekesisus saarel, geoloogiline ajalugu ja saarte paiknemine saarestikena) arvestamata jätmist, kuid siiski sai sellest aastakümneteks paradigma, mida rakendati ka maastikuökoloogias killustunud elupaigalaikude uurimisel. 1980ndate aastate lõpus hakkas aga maastikuökoloogias populaarsust koguma kontseptuaalselt lähedane metapopulatsiooniteooria, mis tegeleb ruumiliselt eraldatud, kuid levivate isendite kaudu ühenduses olevate osapopulatsioonidega. Sarnaselt saarte biogeograafia teooriale on metapopulatsiooniteooria tuumaks isendite ja populatsioonide ruumiline paigutus ja sellest tulenevad ökoloogilised interaktsioonid, mistõttu on neid kahte teooriat nimetatud ka ühe üldisema teooria teisenditeks.

Kuigi saari ja killustunud elupaiku on ajalooliselt käsitletud sarnastena, on nende vahel siiski üks oluline erinevus: erinevalt saartest ei määra elupaigalaikude isolatsiooni ainult nende ruumiline paigutus, vaid ka levivate organismide võimekus ümbritsevas maastikus toime tulla. Näiteks Eesti vanu laialehiseid metsatukkasid ümbritsevate elupaikade hulgas on nii selliseid, mis on metsaelustikule täiesti sobimatud, kui ka selliseid, mis võivad vanametsa-spetsiifilist elustikku teatud määral toetada. Funktsionaalne sidusus iseloomustab, kui hästi organismid on võimelised elupaigalaikude vahel liikuma ning aeglaselt või passiivselt levivate organismide puhul võib oluline olla ka see, kui hästi nad suudavad seda maastikku ajutiselt asustada. Sarnaselt saartega soodustab elupaigalaikude suur sidusus (väike isolatsioon) sisserännet ja kõrgemat liigirikkust. Samuti on teada, et vanemad metsad toetavad kõrgemat liigirikkust, kuid ei ole selge, kuidas ümbritseva metsa vanus mõjutab vanametsalaikude funktsionaalset sidusust.

Saarte biogeograafias on klassikaliselt valitsenud korrelatiivsed meetodid, mille peamiseks puudujäägiks peetakse vähest võimet selgitada välja põhjuslikke seoseid. Seetõttu on informatiivsema meetodina välja pakutud protsessipõhised mudelid, mis simuleerivad põhjuslikke seoseid protsesside ja elurikkuse mustrite vahel. Agendipõhised mudelid toimivad reeglite kaudu, mis kehtivad iseseisvatele agentidele, kelleks võivad olla üksikud isendid või sarnaste isendite grupid. Kõrgema tasandi mustrid tekivad sel juhul "alt üles". Oluliselt rohkem kui saarte biogeograafias on agendipõhiseid simulatsioone kasutatud maastikuökoloogias ning ka metsade sidususe uurimiseks, kuid need on peamiselt käsitlenud loomade käitumist ja rännet. Oma protsessipõhise ja ruumiliselt täpse olemuse, stohhastilisuse ja võrdlemisi napi parametriseerimise tõttu võivad agendipõhised simulatsioonid olla aga kasulikud nii passiivse levimise uurimiseks maastikuökoloogias kui ka saarte biogeograafia jaoks.

Oma doktoritöös uurisin agendipõhiste simulatsioonimudelitega elurikkust kujundavaid tegureid ruumiliselt ja funktsionaalselt isoleeritud süsteemides: ookeanisaarestikes ja elupaigalaikudes. Tahtsin teada, kui hästi suudab võrdlemisi lihtne simulatsioonimudel jäljendada elurikkuse mustreid ookeanisaarestikes ja elupaigalaikudes; kas elupaikade mitmekesisusel ja saarestiku konfiguratsioonil on elurikkuse kujunemisel roll lisaks saare pindala tugevale efektile; kas tänapäevastes elurikkuse mustrites kajastub saarestike ajalugu; kuivõrd on Eesti laialehised vanad metsad funktsionaalselt ühendatud nooremate sekundaarsete metsade abil ning mis protsess sidusust enim mõjutab.

Kasutatud protsessipõhine, stohhastiline ja ruumiliselt täpne mudel simuleeris virtuaalsete taksonite alampopulatsioonide dünaamikat ookeanisaarte vahel saarestikes ning 5 km raadiuses vanametsalaikude ümber. Simulatsioonides kasutasin Hawaii saarte, Galápagose saarte, Kanaari saarte, Roheneemesaarte ja Assooride ning Eesti laialehiste metsalaikude rasterkaarte. Simulatsiooni agentideks olid virtuaalse taksoni alampopulatsioonid, mis teatud tõenäosusega immigreerusid uuritavale alale, asustasid vabu rastriruute, levisid, paljunesid, surid, ning – saarte simulatsioonide puhul - ka evolutsioneerusid. Kasutades nn mustrile orienteeritud lähenemist, võrdlesin erinevate simulatsioonistsenaariumite elurikkuse mustreid empiiriliste elurikkuse andmetega, leidmaks, millised parameetrite kombinatsioonid loovad tegelikkusega paremini vastavuses olevaid tulemusi. Artiklis I võrdlesin maapinna kõrgusandmete põhjal elupaikadeks jagatud saartega stsenaariumeid sellistega, kus saartel puudusid erinevad elupaigad, ning tegelikkusele vastava saarestiku konfiguratsiooniga stsenaariumeid juhusliku saarte paigutusega stsenaariumitega. Artiklis II võrdlesin staatilisi saarestikumudeleid sellistega, kus saared muutusid ajas vastavalt nende geoloogilisele arengule ning globaalsele merevee taseme kõikumisele. Artiklis III võrdlesin omavahel stsenaariumeid, mis määratlesid erinevad asustamis- ja ellujäämistõenäosused (mis koos peegeldasid funktsionaalset sidusust) erivanuselistele metsadele vanade metsade lähiümbruses. Artiklis I kasutasin ookeanisaarestike seemne- ja eostaimede andmeid,

artiklis II lisasin nendele rühmadele ka värvulised, mardikad ja liblikad. Artiklis III kasutasin Eesti metsade rohurinde, epifüütide, puittaimede, jooksiklaste ning ektomükoriissete, arbuskulaar-mükoriissete, patogeensete ja saprotroofsete seente andmeid.

Minu töö tulemused näitasid, et nii tänapäevane elupaikade mitmekesisus saarel ja saarestiku konfiguratsioon kui ka saarestiku geoloogiline ajalugu ning maailmamere taseme muutused pleistotseenis on mänginud olulist rolli ookeanisaarte elurikkuse kujunemisel. Artiklis I osutus elupaikade mitmekesisus saarel oluliseks teguriks realistlikumate simulatsioonitulemuste saamiseks kõigis uuritud saarestikes, seda nii seemne- kui ka eostaimede liigirikkuse ja liigilise koosseisu puhul. See näitas, et hoolimata saare pindala tugevast mõjust on elupaikade mitmekesisusel elurikkusele täiendav efekt. Saarte paigutuse juhuslikustamine saarestikus ei mõjutanud simuleeritud liigirikkuse vastavust tegelikkusele, küll aga oli oluline mõlema taimerühma liigilise koosseisu jäljendamisel. See viitas taas saare pindala olulisele efektile liigirikkuse kujunemisel, samal ajal kui liigiline koosseis on kergemini mõjutatav lisateguritest. Saarte realistlik paigutus saarestikus oli siiski oluline vaid pikliku kujuga saarestikes nagu Hawaii ja Assoorid, osutades, et teistes saarestikes on saartevahelisi levimismustreid mõjutanud keerulisemad ajalis-ruumilised protsessid, mistõttu ei seleta tänapäevane saarte paigutus oluliselt nende elurikkust. Ka artikkel II kinnitas seda hüpoteesi, näidates, et Hawaii ja Galápagose saarte tänapäevane liigirikkus ja endeemse elurikkuse osakaal taime- ja putukarühmades on mõjutatud saarte vanusest ning geoloogilise arengu ja veetaseme kõikumise põhjustatud kunagistest saarte suurustest ja omavahelistest ühendustest. Artiklite I ja II tulemuste kombineerimisel saab selgeks, et kui saarestiku ajalugu peegeldub hästi saarte tänapäevases paigutuses (nagu Hawaii puhul), siis seletab viimane saarte liigilist koosseisu; kui aga saarestiku ajaloo jooksul on toimunud saarestiku konfiguratsioonis suured muutused (nagu Galápagosel), ei ole tänapäevasel saarte paigutusel olnud piisavalt aega elurikkusele mõju avaldada.

Kanaari saarestikus põhjustas geoloogilise ajaloo rakendamine mudelis aga hoopis tegelikkusega halvemas kooskõlas olevaid simulatsioonitulemusi. See tulenes peamiselt liigirikkuse tugevast ülehindamisest saarestiku vanimatel saartel, kus sisseränne ja evolutsioon said nooremate saartega võrreldes oluliselt kauem toimuda. Sellised tulemused viitasid, et erinevalt noortest saarestikest, nagu Hawaii ja Galápagos, ei piira vanas ja mandrilähedases Kanaari saarestikus saarte liigirikkust mitte sisserändeks ja liigitekkeks vajalik aeg, vaid oluline elupaikade kadu vanimatel erodeerunud saartel. Sarnaselt teiste saarestikega muutis maailmamere taseme kõikumiste jäljendamine siiski simulatsioonitulemusi realistlikumaks ka Kanaari saarestikus, kuigi mõjutas vaid liigilist koosseisu, mitte liigirikkust.

Eesti laialehiste vanametsalaikude kohta leidsin, et paljude organismide jaoks ei ole nad funktsionaalselt hästi ühendatud. Simulatsioonitulemused korreleerusid seda tugevamini rohurinde, epifüütide, ektomükoriissete ja patogeensete seente empiiriliste elurikkuse andmetega, mida suuremad olid simulatsioonistsenaariumis erinevused asustamis- ja ellujäämistõenäosustes erineva vanusega metsade vahel. Eriti oluliseks osutus tugevate korrelatsioonide saavutamiseks madal asustamistõenäosus ohtrates 40–50-aastastes metsades, mis on kujunenud endistele põllumaadele väikeste maamajapidamiste mahajätmise tagajärjel 1970ndatel aastatel. Saprotroofsete seente puhul esines aga vastupidine trend: kõige realistlikumad olid simulatsioonitulemused, kui stsenaarium ei eristanud metsade vanuseklasse, mis näitab, et saprotroofsetele seentele ei ole metsa vanus maastikus oluline. Puittaimede, arbuskulaar-mükoriissete seente ja jooksiklaste empiirilised andmed andsid simulatsioonitulemustega ainult negatiivseid korrelatsioone, mis viitas, et nende elustikurühmade jaoks on noorem mets vanast metsast sobivam või eelistavad nad metsale üldse teisi elupaiku. Lisaks näitasid metsade simulatsioonide tulemused, et nooremate metsade kasutamist metsaspetsiifiliste gruppide poolt piirab rohkem nende asustamine kui seal ellujäämine. Sarnasele järeldusele on kaudselt jõutud ka varasemates töödes, mis on näidanud mikroelupaikade mitmekesisuse olulisust vanades metsades.

Kokkuvõtteks võib öelda, et elurikkus ookeanisaarestikes ja elupaigalaikudes kujuneb väga paljude protsesside koostoimel, mis teeb tihti põhjuslike seoste tuvastamise looduses keeruliseks. Võrdlemisi lihtsad agendipõhised mudelid võimaldavad aga teha suureskaalalisi virtuaalseid eksperimente ning koguda teadmisi põhjuslike suhete kohta, mis aitavad ennustada ja vältida elurikkuse kadusid neis väärtuslikes isoleeritud süsteemides.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes to my supervisor, Meelis Pärtel, who has guided me throughout my entire academic training and introduced me to the fascinating fields of biogeography and ecological modeling. He has been a constant source of support, inspiration, and wisdom, which has enabled me to develop my own ideas and interests, yet to remain within the limits of professional research.

I am very grateful to the people of the Macroecology, Landscape Biodiversity and Plant Ecology (*sensu lato*) workgroups. They are fun, smart, and encouraging as colleagues and as friends – they have made it a pleasure to come to work. I am also very honored to have had the opportunity to visit the Biodiversity, Macroecology and Biogeography workgroup at the University of Göttingen and to work alongside Holger Kreft and his colleagues, who made me feel most welcome.

A special thank you goes to my sister Kadri and my colleagues and friends Riin, Kersti and Martin for reading parts of this thesis with thoroughness exceeding my abilities.

And finally, I thank Säde coffee shop for the countless cups of coffee and hours of desk time since 2015.

The research presented in this thesis was funded by the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (IUT20-29), Estonian Research Council (PRG609), European Union through the European Regional Development Fund (Centre of Excellence EcolChange) and Estonian State Forest Management Centre (project 'Smart biodiversity conservation in Estonian natural and managed forests').

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Madli Jõks
Date of birth:	17.09.1989
Citizenship:	Estonian
E-mail:	madli.joks@hotmail.com

Education

University of Tartu, PhD candidate in Botany and ecology
Research stay at Prof. Holger Kreft's workgroup in the Uni-
versity of Göttingen, Germany
University of Tartu, Biodiversity Conservation, MSc
University of Tartu, Ecology and biodiversity conservation,
BSc
Exchange semester at the University of Konstanz, Germany
Hugo Treffner Gymnasium

Institutions and positions held

University of Tartu, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, junior research fellow in macroecology
eAgronom, research assistant
University of Tartu, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences,
specialist in ecology
Environmental Board of Estonia, conservation biologist

Research interests

Island biogeography, landscape ecology, connectivity of fragmented habitats, ecological modeling.

Publications

- Jöks, M., Helm, A., Kasari-Toussaint, L., Kook, E., Lutter, R., Noreika, N., Oja, E., Öpik, M., Randlane, T., Reier, Ü., Riibak, K., Saag, A., Tullus, H., Tullus, T., Pärtel, M. 2023. A simulation model of functional habitat connectivity demonstrates the importance of species establishment in older forests. – Ecological Modelling 481: 110361.
- Jõks, M., Kreft, H., Weigelt, P., Pärtel, M. 2021. Legacy of archipelago history in modern island biodiversity An agent-based simulation model. Global Ecology and Biogeography 30: 247–261.
- Jõks, M. and Pärtel, M. 2019. Plant diversity in Oceanic archipelagos: realistic patterns emulated by an agent-based computer simulation. Ecography 42: 740–754.

Conference presentations

- Jöks, M., Kreft, H., Weigelt, P., Pärtel, M. 2019. Effects of current and historical geography on island biodiversity revealed by an agent-based computer simulation (*oral presentation*). 3rdInternational Island Biology Conference, Saint-Denis, La Reunion.
- Jöks, M. and Pärtel, M. 2017. An individual-based computer simulation can emulate realistic plant diversity patterns in oceanic archipelagos (*poster presentation*). Joint annual meeting of "the British Ecological Society" (BES), "die Gesellschaft für Ökologie" (GFÖ), "de Nederlands-Vlaamse Vereniging voor Ecologie" (NecoV) and European Ecological Federation (EEF) "Ecology Across Borders", Ghent, Belgium.
- Jõks, M. and Pärtel, M. 2016. Plant diversity on oceanic islands: A computer simulation (*poster presentation*). 2ndInternational Island Biology Conference, Angra do Heroísmo, Azores.

Scholarships

- 2019 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaak Scholarship for short-time visit
- 2017 Dora Plus Scholarship for short study visit
- 2016 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaak Scholarship for short-time visit
- 2016 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaak Scholarship for study period abroad

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Madli Jõks
Sünniaeg:	17.09.1989
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
E-mail:	madli.joks@hotmail.com

Haridustee

2015-2023	Tartu Ülikool, Botaanika ja ökoloogia, doktoriõpe
sept dets. 2016	Prof. Holger Krefti töörühma külastamine Göttingeni Üli-
	koolis Saksamaal
2012-2014	Tartu Ülikool, Bioloogilise mitmekesisuse kaitse, magistrikraad
2008-2012	Tartu Ülikool, Ökoloogia ning elustiku kaitse, bakalaureuse-
	kraad
märts-juuli 2011	Vahetussemester Konstanzi Ülikoolis Saksamaal
2006-2008	Hugo Treffneri Gümnaasium

Töökogemus

Tartu Ülikool, ökoloogia ja maateaduste instituut, makro-
ökoloogia nooremteadur
eAgronom, teadusassistent
Tartu Ülikool, ökoloogia ja maateaduste instituut, ökoloogia
spetsialist
Keskkonnaamet, looduskaitsebioloog

Peamised uurimisvaldkonnad

Saarte biogeograafia, maastikuökoloogia, killustunud elupaikade sidusus, ökoloogiline modelleerimine.

Teadusartiklid

- Jöks, M., Helm, A., Kasari-Toussaint, L., Kook, E., Lutter, R., Noreika, N., Oja, E., Öpik, M., Randlane, T., Reier, Ü., Riibak, K., Saag, A., Tullus, H., Tullus, T., Pärtel, M. 2023. A simulation model of functional habitat connectivity demonstrates the importance of species establishment in older forests. – Ecological Modelling 481: 110361.
- Jõks, M., Kreft, H., Weigelt, P., Pärtel, M. 2021. Legacy of archipelago history in modern island biodiversity – An agent-based simulation model. – Global Ecology and Biogeography 30: 247–261.
- Jõks, M. ja Pärtel, M. 2019. Plant diversity in Oceanic archipelagos: realistic patterns emulated by an agent-based computer simulation. Ecography 42: 740–754.

Konverentsiettekanded

- Jöks, M., Kreft, H., Weigelt, P., Pärtel, M. 2019. Effects of current and historical geography on island biodiversity revealed by an agent-based computer simulation (*suuline ettekanne*). 3. Rahvusvaheline Saarte Bioloogia Konverents, Saint-Denis, La Reunion.
- Jõks, M. ja Pärtel, M. 2017. An individual-based computer simulation can emulate realistic plant diversity patterns in oceanic archipelagos (*posterettekanne*). Briti Ökoloogilise Ühingu (BES), GfÖ, NecoV ja Euroopa Ökoloogia Liidu (EEF) ühine aastakonverents, Gent, Belgia.
- Jõks, M. ja Pärtel, M. 2016. Plant diversity on oceanic islands: a computer simulation (*posterettekanne*). 2. Rahvusvaheline Saarte Bioloogia Konverents, Angra do Heroísmo, Assoorid.

Stipendiumid

- 2019 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaagu välissõidu stipendium
- 2017 Dora Pluss lühiajalise õpirände stipendium
- 2016 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaagu välissõidu stipendium
- 2016 SA Archimedes, Kristjan Jaagu lühiajalise õppe stipendium

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Toivo Maimets. Studies of human oncoprotein p53. Tartu, 1991, 96 p.
- 2. Enn K. Seppet. Thyroid state control over energy metabolism, ion transport and contractile functions in rat heart. Tartu, 1991, 135 p.
- 3. Kristjan Zobel. Epifüütsete makrosamblike väärtus õhu saastuse indikaatoritena Hamar-Dobani boreaalsetes mägimetsades. Tartu, 1992, 131 lk.
- 4. Andres Mäe. Conjugal mobilization of catabolic plasmids by transposable elements in helper plasmids. Tartu, 1992, 91 p.
- 5. Maia Kivisaar. Studies on phenol degradation genes of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain EST 1001. Tartu, 1992, 61 p.
- 6. Allan Nurk. Nucleotide sequences of phenol degradative genes from *Pseudomonas sp.* strain EST 1001 and their transcriptional activation in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 1992, 72 p.
- 7. Ülo Tamm. The genus *Populus* L. in Estonia: variation of the species biology and introduction. Tartu, 1993, 91 p.
- 8. Jaanus Remme. Studies on the peptidyltransferase centre of the *E.coli* ribosome. Tartu, 1993, 68 p.
- 9. Ülo Langel. Galanin and galanin antagonists. Tartu, 1993, 97 p.
- 10. Arvo Käärd. The development of an automatic online dynamic fluorescense-based pH-dependent fiber optic penicillin flowthrought biosensor for the control of the benzylpenicillin hydrolysis. Tartu, 1993, 117 p.
- 11. Lilian Järvekülg. Antigenic analysis and development of sensitive immunoassay for potato viruses. Tartu, 1993, 147 p.
- 12. Jaak Palumets. Analysis of phytomass partition in Norway spruce. Tartu, 1993, 47 p.
- 13. Arne Sellin. Variation in hydraulic architecture of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. trees grown under different environmental conditions. Tartu, 1994, 119 p.
- 13. Mati Reeben. Regulation of light neurofilament gene expression. Tartu, 1994, 108 p.
- 14. Urmas Tartes. Respiration rhytms in insects. Tartu, 1995, 109 p.
- 15. Ülo Puurand. The complete nucleotide sequence and infections *in vitro* transcripts from cloned cDNA of a potato A potyvirus. Tartu, 1995, 96 p.
- 16. **Peeter Hõrak**. Pathways of selection in avian reproduction: a functional framework and its application in the population study of the great tit (*Parus major*). Tartu, 1995, 118 p.
- 17. Erkki Truve. Studies on specific and broad spectrum virus resistance in transgenic plants. Tartu, 1996, 158 p.
- 18. **Illar Pata**. Cloning and characterization of human and mouse ribosomal protein S6-encoding genes. Tartu, 1996, 60 p.
- Ülo Niinemets. Importance of structural features of leaves and canopy in determining species shade-tolerance in temperature deciduous woody taxa. Tartu, 1996, 150 p.

- 20. Ants Kurg. Bovine leukemia virus: molecular studies on the packaging region and DNA diagnostics in cattle. Tartu, 1996, 104 p.
- 21. Ene Ustav. E2 as the modulator of the BPV1 DNA replication. Tartu, 1996, 100 p.
- 22. Aksel Soosaar. Role of helix-loop-helix and nuclear hormone receptor transcription factors in neurogenesis. Tartu, 1996, 109 p.
- 23. **Maido Remm**. Human papillomavirus type 18: replication, transformation and gene expression. Tartu, 1997, 117 p.
- 24. **Tiiu Kull**. Population dynamics in *Cypripedium calceolus* L. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 25. Kalle Olli. Evolutionary life-strategies of autotrophic planktonic microorganisms in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 1997, 180 p.
- 26. **Meelis Pärtel**. Species diversity and community dynamics in calcareous grassland communities in Western Estonia. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 27. **Malle Leht**. The Genus *Potentilla* L. in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania: distribution, morphology and taxonomy. Tartu, 1997, 186 p.
- 28. **Tanel Tenson**. Ribosomes, peptides and antibiotic resistance. Tartu, 1997, 80 p.
- 29. Arvo Tuvikene. Assessment of inland water pollution using biomarker responses in fish *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Tartu, 1997, 160 p.
- 30. Urmas Saarma. Tuning ribosomal elongation cycle by mutagenesis of 23S rRNA. Tartu, 1997, 134 p.
- 31. **Henn Ojaveer**. Composition and dynamics of fish stocks in the gulf of Riga ecosystem. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 32. Lembi Lõugas. Post-glacial development of vertebrate fauna in Estonian water bodies. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 33. **Margus Pooga**. Cell penetrating peptide, transportan, and its predecessors, galanin-based chimeric peptides. Tartu, 1998, 110 p.
- 34. Andres Saag. Evolutionary relationships in some cetrarioid genera (Lichenized Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 196 p.
- 35. Aivar Liiv. Ribosomal large subunit assembly in vivo. Tartu, 1998, 158 p.
- 36. **Tatjana Oja**. Isoenzyme diversity and phylogenetic affinities among the eurasian annual bromes (*Bromus* L., Poaceae). Tartu, 1998, 92 p.
- 37. **Mari Moora**. The influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis on the competition and coexistence of calcareous grassland plant species. Tartu, 1998, 78 p.
- Olavi Kurina. Fungus gnats in Estonia (Diptera: Bolitophilidae, Keroplatidae, Macroceridae, Ditomyiidae, Diadocidiidae, Mycetophilidae). Tartu, 1998, 200 p.
- 39. Andrus Tasa. Biological leaching of shales: black shale and oil shale. Tartu, 1998, 98 p.
- 40. Arnold Kristjuhan. Studies on transcriptional activator properties of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 1998, 86 p.
- 41. **Sulev Ingerpuu**. Characterization of some human myeloid cell surface and nuclear differentiation antigens. Tartu, 1998, 163 p.

- 42. Veljo Kisand. Responses of planktonic bacteria to the abiotic and biotic factors in the shallow lake Võrtsjärv. Tartu, 1998, 118 p.
- 43. Kadri Põldmaa. Studies in the systematics of hypomyces and allied genera (Hypocreales, Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 178 p.
- 44. Markus Vetemaa. Reproduction parameters of fish as indicators in environmental monitoring. Tartu, 1998, 117 p.
- 45. Heli Talvik. Prepatent periods and species composition of different *Oeso-phagostomum* spp. populations in Estonia and Denmark. Tartu, 1998, 104 p.
- 46. Katrin Heinsoo. Cuticular and stomatal antechamber conductance to water vapour diffusion in *Picea abies* (L.) karst. Tartu, 1999, 133 p.
- 47. **Tarmo Annilo**. Studies on mammalian ribosomal protein S7. Tartu, 1998, 77 p.
- 48. **Indrek Ots**. Health state indicies of reproducing great tits (*Parus major*): sources of variation and connections with life-history traits. Tartu, 1999, 117 p.
- 49. Juan Jose Cantero. Plant community diversity and habitat relationships in central Argentina grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 161 p.
- 50. **Rein Kalamees**. Seed bank, seed rain and community regeneration in Estonian calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 107 p.
- 51. **Sulev Kõks**. Cholecystokinin (CCK) induced anxiety in rats: influence of environmental stimuli and involvement of endopioid mechanisms and serotonin. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 52. Ebe Sild. Impact of increasing concentrations of O_3 and CO_2 on wheat, clover and pasture. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 53. Ljudmilla Timofejeva. Electron microscopical analysis of the synaptonemal complex formation in cereals. Tartu, 1999, 99 p.
- 54. Andres Valkna. Interactions of galanin receptor with ligands and G-proteins: studies with synthetic peptides. Tartu, 1999, 103 p.
- 55. **Taavi Virro**. Life cycles of planktonic rotifers in lake Peipsi. Tartu, 1999, 101 p.
- 56. **Ana Rebane**. Mammalian ribosomal protein S3a genes and intron-encoded small nucleolar RNAs U73 and U82. Tartu, 1999, 85 p.
- 57. **Tiina Tamm**. Cocksfoot mottle virus: the genome organisation and translational strategies. Tartu, 2000, 101 p.
- 58. **Reet Kurg**. Structure-function relationship of the bovine papilloma virus E2 protein. Tartu, 2000, 89 p.
- 59. **Toomas Kivisild**. The origins of Southern and Western Eurasian populations: an mtDNA study. Tartu, 2000, 121 p.
- 60. **Niilo Kaldalu**. Studies of the TOL plasmid transcription factor XylS. Tartu, 2000, 88 p.
- 61. **Dina Lepik**. Modulation of viral DNA replication by tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 62. Kai Vellak. Influence of different factors on the diversity of the bryophyte vegetation in forest and wooded meadow communities. Tartu, 2000, 122 p.

- 63. Jonne Kotta. Impact of eutrophication and biological invasionas on the structure and functions of benthic macrofauna. Tartu, 2000, 160 p.
- 64. **Georg Martin**. Phytobenthic communities of the Gulf of Riga and the inner sea the West-Estonian archipelago. Tartu, 2000, 139 p.
- 65. Silvia Sepp. Morphological and genetical variation of *Alchemilla L*. in Estonia. Tartu, 2000. 124 p.
- 66. **Jaan Liira**. On the determinants of structure and diversity in herbaceous plant communities. Tartu, 2000, 96 p.
- 67. **Priit Zingel**. The role of planktonic ciliates in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2001, 111 p.
- 68. **Tiit Teder**. Direct and indirect effects in Host-parasitoid interactions: ecological and evolutionary consequences. Tartu, 2001, 122 p.
- 69. **Hannes Kollist**. Leaf apoplastic ascorbate as ozone scavenger and its transport across the plasma membrane. Tartu, 2001, 80 p.
- 70. **Reet Marits**. Role of two-component regulator system PehR-PehS and extracellular protease PrtW in virulence of *Erwinia Carotovora* subsp. *Carotovora*. Tartu, 2001, 112 p.
- 71. Vallo Tilgar. Effect of calcium supplementation on reproductive performance of the pied flycatcher *Ficedula hypoleuca* and the great tit *Parus major*, breeding in Nothern temperate forests. Tartu, 2002, 126 p.
- 72. **Rita Hõrak**. Regulation of transposition of transposon Tn4652 in *Pseudo-monas putida*. Tartu, 2002, 108 p.
- 73. Liina Eek-Piirsoo. The effect of fertilization, mowing and additional illumination on the structure of a species-rich grassland community. Tartu, 2002, 74 p.
- 74. **Krõõt Aasamaa**. Shoot hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance of six temperate deciduous tree species. Tartu, 2002, 110 p.
- 75. Nele Ingerpuu. Bryophyte diversity and vascular plants. Tartu, 2002, 112 p.
- 76. **Neeme Tõnisson**. Mutation detection by primer extension on oligonucleotide microarrays. Tartu, 2002, 124 p.
- 77. **Margus Pensa**. Variation in needle retention of Scots pine in relation to leaf morphology, nitrogen conservation and tree age. Tartu, 2003, 110 p.
- 78. Asko Lõhmus. Habitat preferences and quality for birds of prey: from principles to applications. Tartu, 2003, 168 p.
- 79. Viljar Jaks. p53 a switch in cellular circuit. Tartu, 2003, 160 p.
- 80. Jaana Männik. Characterization and genetic studies of four ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Tartu, 2003, 140 p.
- 81. Marek Sammul. Competition and coexistence of clonal plants in relation to productivity. Tartu, 2003, 159 p
- 82. **Ivar Ilves**. Virus-cell interactions in the replication cycle of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 89 p.
- 83. Andres Männik. Design and characterization of a novel vector system based on the stable replicator of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 109 p.

- 84. **Ivika Ostonen**. Fine root structure, dynamics and proportion in net primary production of Norway spruce forest ecosystem in relation to site conditions. Tartu, 2003, 158 p.
- 85. **Gudrun Veldre**. Somatic status of 12–15-year-old Tartu schoolchildren. Tartu, 2003, 199 p.
- 86. Ülo Väli. The greater spotted eagle *Aquila clanga* and the lesser spotted eagle *A. pomarina*: taxonomy, phylogeography and ecology. Tartu, 2004, 159 p.
- 87. Aare Abroi. The determinants for the native activities of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E2 protein are separable. Tartu, 2004, 135 p.
- 88. Tiina Kahre. Cystic fibrosis in Estonia. Tartu, 2004, 116 p.
- 89. Helen Orav-Kotta. Habitat choice and feeding activity of benthic suspension feeders and mesograzers in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2004, 117 p.
- 90. **Maarja Öpik**. Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of perennial plants and their effect on plant performance. Tartu, 2004, 175 p.
- 91. Kadri Tali. Species structure of Neotinea ustulata. Tartu, 2004, 109 p.
- 92. Kristiina Tambets. Towards the understanding of post-glacial spread of human mitochondrial DNA haplogroups in Europe and beyond: a phylogeographic approach. Tartu, 2004, 163 p.
- 93. Arvi Jõers. Regulation of p53-dependent transcription. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 94. Lilian Kadaja. Studies on modulation of the activity of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 95. Jaak Truu. Oil shale industry wastewater: impact on river microbial community and possibilities for bioremediation. Tartu, 2004, 128 p.
- 96. **Maire Peters**. Natural horizontal transfer of the *pheBA* operon. Tartu, 2004, 105 p.
- 97. Ülo Maiväli. Studies on the structure-function relationship of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2004, 130 p.
- 98. Merit Otsus. Plant community regeneration and species diversity in dry calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 99. Mikk Heidemaa. Systematic studies on sawflies of the genera *Dolerus*, *Empria*, and *Caliroa* (Hymenoptera: Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2004, 167 p.
- 100. **Ilmar Tõnno**. The impact of nitrogen and phosphorus concentration and N/P ratio on cyanobacterial dominance and N_2 fixation in some Estonian lakes. Tartu, 2004, 111 p.
- 101. Lauri Saks. Immune function, parasites, and carotenoid-based ornaments in greenfinches. Tartu, 2004, 144 p.
- 102. **Siiri Rootsi**. Human Y-chromosomal variation in European populations. Tartu, 2004, 142 p.
- 103. Eve Vedler. Structure of the 2,4-dichloro-phenoxyacetic acid-degradative plasmid pEST4011. Tartu, 2005. 106 p.
- 104. Andres Tover. Regulation of transcription of the phenol degradation *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 126 p.
- 105. Helen Udras. Hexose kinases and glucose transport in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. Tartu, 2005, 100 p.

- 106. Ave Suija. Lichens and lichenicolous fungi in Estonia: diversity, distribution patterns, taxonomy. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 107. **Piret Lõhmus**. Forest lichens and their substrata in Estonia. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 108. **Inga Lips**. Abiotic factors controlling the cyanobacterial bloom occurrence in the Gulf of Finland. Tartu, 2005, 156 p.
- 109. Krista Kaasik. Circadian clock genes in mammalian clockwork, metabolism and behaviour. Tartu, 2005, 121 p.
- 110. **Juhan Javoiš**. The effects of experience on host acceptance in ovipositing moths. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 111. **Tiina Sedman**. Characterization of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondrial DNA helicase Hmi1. Tartu, 2005, 103 p.
- 112. **Ruth Aguraiuja**. Hawaiian endemic fern lineage *Diellia* (Aspleniaceae): distribution, population structure and ecology. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 113. **Riho Teras**. Regulation of transcription from the fusion promoters generated by transposition of Tn4652 into the upstream region of *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 106 p.
- 114. **Mait Metspalu**. Through the course of prehistory in India: tracing the mtDNA trail. Tartu, 2005, 138 p.
- 115. Elin Lõhmussaar. The comparative patterns of linkage disequilibrium in European populations and its implication for genetic association studies. Tartu, 2006, 124 p.
- 116. **Priit Kupper**. Hydraulic and environmental limitations to leaf water relations in trees with respect to canopy position. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 117. Heili Ilves. Stress-induced transposition of Tn4652 in *Pseudomonas Putida*. Tartu, 2006, 120 p.
- 118. Silja Kuusk. Biochemical properties of Hmi1p, a DNA helicase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondria. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 119. Kersti Püssa. Forest edges on medium resolution landsat thematic mapper satellite images. Tartu, 2006, 90 p.
- 120. Lea Tummeleht. Physiological condition and immune function in great tits (*Parus major* 1.): Sources of variation and trade-offs in relation to growth. Tartu, 2006, 94 p.
- 121. **Toomas Esperk**. Larval instar as a key element of insect growth schedules. Tartu, 2006, 186 p.
- 122. Harri Valdmann. Lynx (*Lynx lynx*) and wolf (*Canis lupus*) in the Baltic region: Diets, helminth parasites and genetic variation. Tartu, 2006. 102 p.
- 123. **Priit Jõers**. Studies of the mitochondrial helicase Hmi1p in *Candida albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisia*. Tartu, 2006. 113 p.
- 124. Kersti Lilleväli. Gata3 and Gata2 in inner ear development. Tartu, 2007, 123 p.
- 125. Kai Rünk. Comparative ecology of three fern species: Dryopteris carthusiana (Vill.) H.P. Fuchs, D. expansa (C. Presl) Fraser-Jenkins & Jermy and D. dilatata (Hoffm.) A. Gray (Dryopteridaceae). Tartu, 2007, 143 p.

- 126. **Aveliina Helm**. Formation and persistence of dry grassland diversity: role of human history and landscape structure. Tartu, 2007, 89 p.
- 127. Leho Tedersoo. Ectomycorrhizal fungi: diversity and community structure in Estonia, Seychelles and Australia. Tartu, 2007, 233 p.
- 128. **Marko Mägi**. The habitat-related variation of reproductive performance of great tits in a deciduous-coniferous forest mosaic: looking for causes and consequences. Tartu, 2007, 135 p.
- 129. Valeria Lulla. Replication strategies and applications of Semliki Forest virus. Tartu, 2007, 109 p.
- 130. Ülle Reier. Estonian threatened vascular plant species: causes of rarity and conservation. Tartu, 2007, 79 p.
- 131. **Inga Jüriado**. Diversity of lichen species in Estonia: influence of regional and local factors. Tartu, 2007, 171 p.
- 132. **Tatjana Krama**. Mobbing behaviour in birds: costs and reciprocity based cooperation. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 133. **Signe Saumaa**. The role of DNA mismatch repair and oxidative DNA damage defense systems in avoidance of stationary phase mutations in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 134. **Reedik Mägi**. The linkage disequilibrium and the selection of genetic markers for association studies in european populations. Tartu, 2007, 96 p.
- 135. **Priit Kilgas**. Blood parameters as indicators of physiological condition and skeletal development in great tits (*Parus major*): natural variation and application in the reproductive ecology of birds. Tartu, 2007, 129 p.
- 136. Anu Albert. The role of water salinity in structuring eastern Baltic coastal fish communities. Tartu, 2007, 95 p.
- Kärt Padari. Protein transduction mechanisms of transportans. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 138. Siiri-Lii Sandre. Selective forces on larval colouration in a moth. Tartu, 2008, 125 p.
- 139. Ülle Jõgar. Conservation and restoration of semi-natural floodplain meadows and their rare plant species. Tartu, 2008, 99 p.
- 140. Lauri Laanisto. Macroecological approach in vegetation science: generality of ecological relationships at the global scale. Tartu, 2008, 133 p.
- 141. **Reidar Andreson**. Methods and software for predicting PCR failure rate in large genomes. Tartu, 2008, 105 p.
- 142. Birgot Paavel. Bio-optical properties of turbid lakes. Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 143. **Kaire Torn**. Distribution and ecology of charophytes in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 144. **Vladimir Vimberg**. Peptide mediated macrolide resistance. Tartu, 2008, 190 p.
- 145. **Daima Örd**. Studies on the stress-inducible pseudokinase TRB3, a novel inhibitor of transcription factor ATF4. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 146. Lauri Saag. Taxonomic and ecologic problems in the genus *Lepraria* (*Stereocaulaceae*, lichenised *Ascomycota*). Tartu, 2008, 175 p.

- 147. Ulvi Karu. Antioxidant protection, carotenoids and coccidians in greenfinches – assessment of the costs of immune activation and mechanisms of parasite resistance in a passerine with carotenoid-based ornaments. Tartu, 2008, 124 p.
- 148. Jaanus Remm. Tree-cavities in forests: density, characteristics and occupancy by animals. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 149. Epp Moks. Tapeworm parasites *Echinococcus multilocularis* and *E. granulosus* in Estonia: phylogenetic relationships and occurrence in wild carnivores and ungulates. Tartu, 2008, 82 p.
- 150. Eve Eensalu. Acclimation of stomatal structure and function in tree canopy: effect of light and CO₂ concentration. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 151. **Janne Pullat**. Design, functionlization and application of an *in situ* synthesized oligonucleotide microarray. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 152. Marta Putrinš. Responses of *Pseudomonas putida* to phenol-induced metabolic and stress signals. Tartu, 2008, 142 p.
- 153. Marina Semtšenko. Plant root behaviour: responses to neighbours and physical obstructions. Tartu, 2008, 106 p.
- 154. **Marge Starast**. Influence of cultivation techniques on productivity and fruit quality of some *Vaccinium* and *Rubus* taxa. Tartu, 2008, 154 p.
- 155. Age Tats. Sequence motifs influencing the efficiency of translation. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 156. **Radi Tegova**. The role of specialized DNA polymerases in mutagenesis in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2009, 124 p.
- 157. **Tsipe Aavik**. Plant species richness, composition and functional trait pattern in agricultural landscapes the role of land use intensity and landscape structure. Tartu, 2009, 112 p.
- 158. **Kaja Kiiver**. Semliki forest virus based vectors and cell lines for studying the replication and interactions of alphaviruses and hepaciviruses. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 159. **Meelis Kadaja**. Papillomavirus Replication Machinery Induces Genomic Instability in its Host Cell. Tartu, 2009, 126 p.
- 160. **Pille Hallast**. Human and chimpanzee Luteinizing hormone/Chorionic Gonadotropin beta (*LHB/CGB*) gene clusters: diversity and divergence of young duplicated genes. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 161. Ain Vellak. Spatial and temporal aspects of plant species conservation. Tartu, 2009, 86 p.
- 162. **Triinu Remmel**. Body size evolution in insects with different colouration strategies: the role of predation risk. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 163. **Jaana Salujõe**. Zooplankton as the indicator of ecological quality and fish predation in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 164. Ele Vahtmäe. Mapping benthic habitat with remote sensing in optically complex coastal environments. Tartu, 2009, 109 p.
- 165. Liisa Metsamaa. Model-based assessment to improve the use of remote sensing in recognition and quantitative mapping of cyanobacteria. Tartu, 2009, 114 p.

- 166. **Pille Säälik**. The role of endocytosis in the protein transduction by cellpenetrating peptides. Tartu, 2009, 155 p.
- 167. Lauri Peil. Ribosome assembly factors in *Escherichia coli*. Tartu, 2009, 147 p.
- Lea Hallik. Generality and specificity in light harvesting, carbon gain capacity and shade tolerance among plant functional groups. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- 169. **Mariliis Tark**. Mutagenic potential of DNA damage repair and tolerance mechanisms under starvation stress. Tartu, 2009, 191 p.
- 170. **Riinu Rannap**. Impacts of habitat loss and restoration on amphibian populations. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 171. **Maarja Adojaan**. Molecular variation of HIV-1 and the use of this knowledge in vaccine development. Tartu, 2009, 95 p.
- 172. **Signe Altmäe**. Genomics and transcriptomics of human induced ovarian folliculogenesis. Tartu, 2010, 179 p.
- 173. **Triin Suvi**. Mycorrhizal fungi of native and introduced trees in the Seychelles Islands. Tartu, 2010, 107 p.
- 174. Velda Lauringson. Role of suspension feeding in a brackish-water coastal sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 175. **Eero Talts**. Photosynthetic cyclic electron transport measurement and variably proton-coupled mechanism. Tartu, 2010, 121 p.
- 176. **Mari Nelis**. Genetic structure of the Estonian population and genetic distance from other populations of European descent. Tartu, 2010, 97 p.
- 177. **Kaarel Krjutškov**. Arrayed Primer Extension-2 as a multiplex PCR-based method for nucleic acid variation analysis: method and applications. Tartu, 2010, 129 p.
- 178. **Egle Köster**. Morphological and genetical variation within species complexes: *Anthyllis vulneraria* s. l. and *Alchemilla vulgaris* (coll.). Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 179. Erki Õunap. Systematic studies on the subfamily Sterrhinae (Lepidoptera: Geometridae). Tartu, 2010, 111 p.
- 180. **Merike Jõesaar**. Diversity of key catabolic genes at degradation of phenol and *p*-cresol in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2010, 125 p.
- 181. **Kristjan Herkül**. Effects of physical disturbance and habitat-modifying species on sediment properties and benthic communities in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 182. Arto Pulk. Studies on bacterial ribosomes by chemical modification approaches. Tartu, 2010, 161 p.
- 183. **Maria Põllupüü**. Ecological relations of cladocerans in a brackish-water ecosystem. Tartu, 2010, 126 p.
- 184. **Toomas Silla**. Study of the segregation mechanism of the Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1. Tartu, 2010, 188 p.
- 185. **Gyaneshwer Chaubey**. The demographic history of India: A perspective based on genetic evidence. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.

- 186. **Katrin Kepp**. Genes involved in cardiovascular traits: detection of genetic variation in Estonian and Czech populations. Tartu, 2010, 164 p.
- 187. Virve Sõber. The role of biotic interactions in plant reproductive performance. Tartu, 2010, 92 p.
- 188. Kersti Kangro. The response of phytoplankton community to the changes in nutrient loading. Tartu, 2010, 144 p.
- 189. Joachim M. Gerhold. Replication and Recombination of mitochondrial DNA in Yeast. Tartu, 2010, 120 p.
- 190. Helen Tammert. Ecological role of physiological and phylogenetic diversity in aquatic bacterial communities. Tartu, 2010, 140 p.
- 191. Elle Rajandu. Factors determining plant and lichen species diversity and composition in Estonian *Calamagrostis* and *Hepatica* site type forests. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 192. **Paula Ann Kivistik**. ColR-ColS signalling system and transposition of Tn4652 in the adaptation of *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2010, 118 p.
- 193. Siim Sõber. Blood pressure genetics: from candidate genes to genomewide association studies. Tartu, 2011, 120 p.
- 194. **Kalle Kipper**. Studies on the role of helix 69 of 23S rRNA in the factordependent stages of translation initiation, elongation, and termination. Tartu, 2011, 178 p.
- 195. **Triinu Siibak**. Effect of antibiotics on ribosome assembly is indirect. Tartu, 2011, 134 p.
- 196. **Tambet Tõnissoo**. Identification and molecular analysis of the role of guanine nucleotide exchange factor RIC-8 in mouse development and neural function. Tartu, 2011, 110 p.
- 197. Helin Räägel. Multiple faces of cell-penetrating peptides their intracellular trafficking, stability and endosomal escape during protein transduction. Tartu, 2011, 161 p.
- 198. Andres Jaanus. Phytoplankton in Estonian coastal waters variability, trends and response to environmental pressures. Tartu, 2011, 157 p.
- 199. **Tiit Nikopensius**. Genetic predisposition to nonsyndromic orofacial clefts. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 200. **Signe Värv**. Studies on the mechanisms of RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 201. Kristjan Välk. Gene expression profiling and genome-wide association studies of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 202. Arno Põllumäe. Spatio-temporal patterns of native and invasive zooplankton species under changing climate and eutrophication conditions. Tartu, 2011, 153 p.
- 203. Egle Tammeleht. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population structure, demographic processes and variations in diet in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2011, 143 p.
- 205. **Teele Jairus**. Species composition and host preference among ectomycorrhizal fungi in Australian and African ecosystems. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.

- 206. Kessy Abarenkov. PlutoF cloud database and computing services supporting biological research. Tartu, 2011, 125 p.
- 207. Marina Grigorova. Fine-scale genetic variation of follicle-stimulating hormone beta-subunit coding gene (*FSHB*) and its association with reproductive health. Tartu, 2011, 184 p.
- 208. **Anu Tiitsaar**. The effects of predation risk and habitat history on butterfly communities. Tartu, 2011, 97 p.
- 209. Elin Sild. Oxidative defences in immunoecological context: validation and application of assays for nitric oxide production and oxidative burst in a wild passerine. Tartu, 2011, 105 p.
- 210. Irja Saar. The taxonomy and phylogeny of the genera *Cystoderma* and *Cystodermella* (Agaricales, Fungi). Tartu, 2012, 167 p.
- 211. **Pauli Saag**. Natural variation in plumage bacterial assemblages in two wild breeding passerines. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 212. Aleksei Lulla. Alphaviral nonstructural protease and its polyprotein substrate: arrangements for the perfect marriage. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 213. **Mari Järve**. Different genetic perspectives on human history in Europe and the Caucasus: the stories told by uniparental and autosomal markers. Tartu, 2012, 119 p.
- 214. Ott Scheler. The application of tmRNA as a marker molecule in bacterial diagnostics using microarray and biosensor technology. Tartu, 2012, 93 p.
- 215. **Anna Balikova**. Studies on the functions of tumor-associated mucin-like leukosialin (CD43) in human cancer cells. Tartu, 2012, 129 p.
- 216. Triinu Kõressaar. Improvement of PCR primer design for detection of prokaryotic species. Tartu, 2012, 83 p.
- 217. Tuul Sepp. Hematological health state indices of greenfinches: sources of individual variation and responses to immune system manipulation. Tartu, 2012, 117 p.
- 218. Rya Ero. Modifier view of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2012, 146 p.
- 219. **Mohammad Bahram**. Biogeography of ectomycorrhizal fungi across different spatial scales. Tartu, 2012, 165 p.
- 220. Annely Lorents. Overcoming the plasma membrane barrier: uptake of amphipathic cell-penetrating peptides induces influx of calcium ions and downstream responses. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 221. **Katrin Männik**. Exploring the genomics of cognitive impairment: wholegenome SNP genotyping experience in Estonian patients and general population. Tartu, 2012, 171 p.
- 222. Marko Prous. Taxonomy and phylogeny of the sawfly genus *Empria* (Hymenoptera, Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2012, 192 p.
- 223. **Triinu Visnapuu**. Levansucrases encoded in the genome of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000: heterologous expression, biochemical characterization, mutational analysis and spectrum of polymerization products. Tartu, 2012, 160 p.
- 224. Nele Tamberg. Studies on Semliki Forest virus replication and pathogenesis. Tartu, 2012, 109 p.

- 225. **Tõnu Esko**. Novel applications of SNP array data in the analysis of the genetic structure of Europeans and in genetic association studies. Tartu, 2012, 149 p.
- 226. **Timo Arula**. Ecology of early life-history stages of herring *Clupea harengus membras* in the northeastern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 227. **Inga Hiiesalu**. Belowground plant diversity and coexistence patterns in grassland ecosystems. Tartu, 2012, 130 p.
- 228. **Kadri Koorem**. The influence of abiotic and biotic factors on small-scale plant community patterns and regeneration in boreonemoral forest. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 229. Liis Andresen. Regulation of virulence in plant-pathogenic pectobacteria. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 230. **Kaupo Kohv**. The direct and indirect effects of management on boreal forest structure and field layer vegetation. Tartu, 2012, 124 p.
- 231. **Mart Jüssi**. Living on an edge: landlocked seals in changing climate. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 232. Riina Klais. Phytoplankton trends in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 136 p.
- 233. **Rauno Veeroja**. Effects of winter weather, population density and timing of reproduction on life-history traits and population dynamics of moose (*Alces alces*) in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 92 p.
- 234. **Marju Keis**. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) phylogeography in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2013, 142 p.
- 235. Sergei Põlme. Biogeography and ecology of *alnus* associated ectomycorrhizal fungi – from regional to global scale. Tartu, 2013, 90 p.
- 236. Liis Uusküla. Placental gene expression in normal and complicated pregnancy. Tartu, 2013, 173 p.
- 237. Marko Lõoke. Studies on DNA replication initiation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2013, 112 p.
- 238. Anne Aan. Light- and nitrogen-use and biomass allocation along productivity gradients in multilayer plant communities. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- 239. Heidi Tamm. Comprehending phylogenetic diversity case studies in three groups of ascomycetes. Tartu, 2013, 136 p.
- 240. Liina Kangur. High-Pressure Spectroscopy Study of Chromophore-Binding Hydrogen Bonds in Light-Harvesting Complexes of Photosynthetic Bacteria. Tartu, 2013, 150 p.
- 241. Margus Leppik. Substrate specificity of the multisite specific pseudouridine synthase RluD. Tartu, 2013, 111 p.
- 242. Lauris Kaplinski. The application of oligonucleotide hybridization model for PCR and microarray optimization. Tartu, 2013, 103 p.
- 243. Merli Pärnoja. Patterns of macrophyte distribution and productivity in coastal ecosystems: effect of abiotic and biotic forcing. Tartu, 2013, 155 p.
- 244. **Tõnu Margus**. Distribution and phylogeny of the bacterial translational GTPases and the Mqsr/YgiT regulatory system. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 245. **Pille Mänd**. Light use capacity and carbon and nitrogen budget of plants: remote assessment and physiological determinants. Tartu, 2013, 128 p.

- 246. **Mario Plaas**. Animal model of Wolfram Syndrome in mice: behavioural, biochemical and psychopharmacological characterization. Tartu, 2013, 144 p.
- 247. Georgi Hudjašov. Maps of mitochondrial DNA, Y-chromosome and tyrosinase variation in Eurasian and Oceanian populations. Tartu, 2013, 115 p.
- 248. **Mari Lepik**. Plasticity to light in herbaceous plants and its importance for community structure and diversity. Tartu, 2013, 102 p.
- 249. Ede Leppik. Diversity of lichens in semi-natural habitats of Estonia. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 250. Ülle Saks. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity patterns in boreonemoral forest ecosystems. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 251. Eneli Oitmaa. Development of arrayed primer extension microarray assays for molecular diagnostic applications. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 252. Jekaterina Jutkina. The horizontal gene pool for aromatics degradation: bacterial catabolic plasmids of the Baltic Sea aquatic system. Tartu, 2013, 121 p.
- 253. Helen Vellau. Reaction norms for size and age at maturity in insects: rules and exceptions. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 254. **Randel Kreitsberg**. Using biomarkers in assessment of environmental contamination in fish new perspectives. Tartu, 2014, 107 p.
- 255. Krista Takkis. Changes in plant species richness and population performance in response to habitat loss and fragmentation. Tartu, 2014, 141 p.
- 256. Liina Nagirnaja. Global and fine-scale genetic determinants of recurrent pregnancy loss. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 257. **Triin Triisberg**. Factors influencing the re-vegetation of abandoned extracted peatlands in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 133 p.
- 258. Villu Soon. A phylogenetic revision of the *Chrysis ignita* species group (Hymenoptera: Chrysididae) with emphasis on the northern European fauna. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 259. Andrei Nikonov. RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase Activity as a Basis for the Detection of Positive-Strand RNA Viruses by Vertebrate Host Cells. Tartu, 2014, 207 p.
- 260. **Eele Õunapuu-Pikas**. Spatio-temporal variability of leaf hydraulic conductance in woody plants: ecophysiological consequences. Tartu, 2014, 135 p.
- 261. **Marju Männiste**. Physiological ecology of greenfinches: information content of feathers in relation to immune function and behavior. Tartu, 2014, 121 p.
- 262. Katre Kets. Effects of elevated concentrations of CO₂ and O₃ on leaf photosynthetic parameters in *Populus tremuloides*: diurnal, seasonal and interannual patterns. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.
- 263. **Külli Lokko**. Seasonal and spatial variability of zoopsammon communities in relation to environmental parameters. Tartu, 2014, 129 p.
- 264. **Olga Žilina**. Chromosomal microarray analysis as diagnostic tool: Estonian experience. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.

- 265. **Kertu Lõhmus**. Colonisation ecology of forest-dwelling vascular plants and the conservation value of rural manor parks. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 266. **Anu Aun**. Mitochondria as integral modulators of cellular signaling. Tartu, 2014, 167 p.
- 267. Chandana Basu Mallick. Genetics of adaptive traits and gender-specific demographic processes in South Asian populations. Tartu, 2014, 160 p.
- 268. **Riin Tamme**. The relationship between small-scale environmental heterogeneity and plant species diversity. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 269. Liina Remm. Impacts of forest drainage on biodiversity and habitat quality: implications for sustainable management and conservation. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 270. **Tiina Talve**. Genetic diversity and taxonomy within the genus *Rhinanthus*. Tartu, 2015, 106 p.
- 271. **Mehis Rohtla**. Otolith sclerochronological studies on migrations, spawning habitat preferences and age of freshwater fishes inhabiting the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 272. Alexey Reshchikov. The world fauna of the genus *Lathrolestes* (Hymenoptera, Ichneumonidae). Tartu, 2015, 247 p.
- 273. **Martin Pook**. Studies on artificial and extracellular matrix protein-rich surfaces as regulators of cell growth and differentiation. Tartu, 2015, 142 p.
- 274. **Mai Kukumägi**. Factors affecting soil respiration and its components in silver birch and Norway spruce stands. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 275. Helen Karu. Development of ecosystems under human activity in the North-East Estonian industrial region: forests on post-mining sites and bogs. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 276. Hedi Peterson. Exploiting high-throughput data for establishing relationships between genes. Tartu, 2015, 186 p.
- 277. **Priit Adler**. Analysis and visualisation of large scale microarray data, Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 278. Aigar Niglas. Effects of environmental factors on gas exchange in deciduous trees: focus on photosynthetic water-use efficiency. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 279. **Silja Laht**. Classification and identification of conopeptides using profile hidden Markov models and position-specific scoring matrices. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 280. **Martin Kesler**. Biological characteristics and restoration of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* populations in the Rivers of Northern Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 281. Pratyush Kumar Das. Biochemical perspective on alphaviral nonstructural protein 2: a tale from multiple domains to enzymatic profiling. Tartu, 2015, 205 p
- 282. **Priit Palta**. Computational methods for DNA copy number detection. Tartu, 2015, 130 p.
- 283. Julia Sidorenko. Combating DNA damage and maintenance of genome integrity in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2015, 174 p.

- 284. **Anastasiia Kovtun-Kante**. Charophytes of Estonian inland and coastal waters: distribution and environmental preferences. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 285. Ly Lindman. The ecology of protected butterfly species in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 171 p.
- 286. Jaanis Lodjak. Association of Insulin-like Growth Factor I and Corticosterone with Nestling Growth and Fledging Success in Wild Passerines. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 287. Ann Kraut. Conservation of Wood-Inhabiting Biodiversity Semi-Natural Forests as an Opportunity. Tartu, 2016, 141 p.
- 288. **Tiit Örd**. Functions and regulation of the mammalian pseudokinase TRIB3. Tartu, 2016, 182. p.
- 289. **Kairi Käiro**. Biological Quality According to Macroinvertebrates in Streams of Estonia (Baltic Ecoregion of Europe): Effects of Human-induced Hydromorphological Changes. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 290. Leidi Laurimaa. *Echinococcus multilocularis* and other zoonotic parasites in Estonian canids. Tartu, 2016, 144 p.
- 291. Helerin Margus. Characterization of cell-penetrating peptide/nucleic acid nanocomplexes and their cell-entry mechanisms. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 292. Kadri Runnel. Fungal targets and tools for forest conservation. Tartu, 2016, 157 p.
- 293. Urmo Võsa. MicroRNAs in disease and health: aberrant regulation in lung cancer and association with genomic variation. Tartu, 2016, 163 p.
- 294. Kristina Mäemets-Allas. Studies on cell growth promoting AKT signaling pathway a promising anti-cancer drug target. Tartu, 2016, 146 p.
- 295. **Janeli Viil**. Studies on cellular and molecular mechanisms that drive normal and regenerative processes in the liver and pathological processes in Dupuytren's contracture. Tartu, 2016, 175 p.
- 296. Ene Kook. Genetic diversity and evolution of *Pulmonaria angustifolia* L. and *Myosotis laxa sensu lato* (Boraginaceae). Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 297. Kadri Peil. RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 298. **Katrin Ruisu**. The role of RIC8A in mouse development and its function in cell-matrix adhesion and actin cytoskeletal organisation. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 299. Janely Pae. Translocation of cell-penetrating peptides across biological membranes and interactions with plasma membrane constituents. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 300. Argo Ronk. Plant diversity patterns across Europe: observed and dark diversity. Tartu, 2016, 153 p.
- 301. **Kristiina Mark**. Diversification and species delimitation of lichenized fungi in selected groups of the family Parmeliaceae (Ascomycota). Tartu, 2016, 181 p.
- 302. Jaak-Albert Metsoja. Vegetation dynamics in floodplain meadows: influence of mowing and sediment application. Tartu, 2016, 140 p.

- 303. Hedvig Tamman. The GraTA toxin-antitoxin system of *Pseudomonas putida*: regulation and role in stress tolerance. Tartu, 2016, 154 p.
- 304. Kadri Pärtel. Application of ultrastructural and molecular data in the taxonomy of helotialean fungi. Tartu, 2016, 183 p.
- 305. **Maris Hindrikson**. Grey wolf (*Canis lupus*) populations in Estonia and Europe: genetic diversity, population structure and -processes, and hybridization between wolves and dogs. Tartu, 2016, 121 p.
- 306. **Polina Degtjarenko**. Impacts of alkaline dust pollution on biodiversity of plants and lichens: from communities to genetic diversity. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 307. Liina Pajusalu. The effect of CO₂ enrichment on net photosynthesis of macrophytes in a brackish water environment. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 308. Stoyan Tankov. Random walks in the stringent response. Tartu, 2016, 94 p.
- 309. Liis Leitsalu. Communicating genomic research results to populationbased biobank participants. Tartu, 2016, 158 p.
- 310. **Richard Meitern**. Redox physiology of wild birds: validation and application of techniques for detecting oxidative stress. Tartu, 2016, 134 p.
- 311. Kaie Lokk. Comparative genome-wide DNA methylation studies of healthy human tissues and non-small cell lung cancer tissue. Tartu, 2016, 127 p.
- 312. **Mihhail Kurašin**. Processivity of cellulases and chitinases. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 313. Carmen Tali. Scavenger receptors as a target for nucleic acid delivery with peptide vectors. Tartu, 2017, 155 p.
- 314. Katarina Oganjan. Distribution, feeding and habitat of benthic suspension feeders in a shallow coastal sea. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 315. **Taavi Paal**. Immigration limitation of forest plants into wooded landscape corridors. Tartu, 2017, 145 p.
- 316. Kadri Õunap. The Williams-Beuren syndrome chromosome region protein WBSCR22 is a ribosome biogenesis factor. Tartu, 2017, 135 p.
- 317. **Riin Tamm**. In-depth analysis of factors affecting variability in thiopurine methyltransferase activity. Tartu, 2017, 170 p.
- 318. Keiu Kask. The role of RIC8A in the development and regulation of mouse nervous system. Tartu, 2017, 184 p.
- 319. **Tiia Möller**. Mapping and modelling of the spatial distribution of benthic macrovegetation in the NE Baltic Sea with a special focus on the eelgrass *Zostera marina* Linnaeus, 1753. Tartu, 2017, 162 p.
- 320. Silva Kasela. Genetic regulation of gene expression: detection of tissueand cell type-specific effects. Tartu, 2017, 150 p.
- 321. **Karmen Süld**. Food habits, parasites and space use of the raccoon dog *Nyctereutes procyonoides*: the role of an alien species as a predator and vector of zoonotic diseases in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, p.
- 322. **Ragne Oja**. Consequences of supplementary feeding of wild boar concern for ground-nesting birds and endoparasite infection. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 323. **Riin Kont**. The acquisition of cellulose chain by a processive cellobiohydrolase. Tartu, 2017, 117 p.

- 324. Liis Kasari. Plant diversity of semi-natural grasslands: drivers, current status and conservation challenges. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 325. **Sirgi Saar**. Belowground interactions: the roles of plant genetic relatedness, root exudation and soil legacies. Tartu, 2017, 113 p.
- 326. Sten Anslan. Molecular identification of Collembola and their fungal associates. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 327. **Imre Taal**. Causes of variation in littoral fish communities of the Eastern Baltic Sea: from community structure to individual life histories. Tartu, 2017, 118 p.
- 328. Jürgen Jalak. Dissecting the Mechanism of Enzymatic Degradation of Cellulose Using Low Molecular Weight Model Substrates. Tartu, 2017, 137 p.
- 329. Kairi Kiik. Reproduction and behaviour of the endangered European mink (*Mustela lutreola*) in captivity. Tartu, 2018, 112 p.
- 330. **Ivan Kuprijanov**. Habitat use and trophic interactions of native and invasive predatory macroinvertebrates in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 331. **Hendrik Meister**. Evolutionary ecology of insect growth: from geographic patterns to biochemical trade-offs. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 332. Ilja Gaidutšik. Irc3 is a mitochondrial branch migration enzyme in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2018, 161 p.
- 333. Lena Neuenkamp. The dynamics of plant and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in grasslands under changing land use. Tartu, 2018, 241 p.
- 334. Laura Kasak. Genome structural variation modulating the placenta and pregnancy maintenance. Tartu, 2018, 181 p.
- 335. Kersti Riibak. Importance of dispersal limitation in determining dark diversity of plants across spatial scales. Tartu, 2018, 133 p.
- Liina Saar. Dynamics of grassland plant diversity in changing landscapes. Tartu, 2018, 206 p.
- 337. **Hanna Ainelo**. Fis regulates *Pseudomonas putida* biofilm formation by controlling the expression of *lapA*. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 338. **Natalia Pervjakova**. Genomic imprinting in complex traits. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 339. Andrio Lahesaare. The role of global regulator Fis in regulating the expression of *lapF* and the hydrophobicity of soil bacterium *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2018, 124 p.
- 340. **Märt Roosaare**. *K*-mer based methods for the identification of bacteria and plasmids. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 341. **Maria Abakumova**. The relationship between competitive behaviour and the frequency and identity of neighbours in temperate grassland plants. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 342. **Margus Vilbas**. Biotic interactions affecting habitat use of myrmecophilous butterflies in Northern Europe. Tartu, 2018, 142 p.

- 343. Liina Kinkar. Global patterns of genetic diversity and phylogeography of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu stricto a tapeworm species of significant public health concern. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 344. **Teivi Laurimäe**. Taxonomy and genetic diversity of zoonotic tapeworms in the species complex of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu lato. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 345. **Tatjana Jatsenko**. Role of translesion DNA polymerases in mutagenesis and DNA damage tolerance in Pseudomonads. Tartu, 2018, 216 p.
- 346. Katrin Viigand. Utilization of α-glucosidic sugars by *Ogataea* (*Hansenula*) polymorpha. Tartu, 2018, 148 p.
- 347. Andres Ainelo. Physiological effects of the *Pseudomonas putida* toxin grat. Tartu, 2018, 146 p.
- 348. Killu Timm. Effects of two genes (DRD4 and SERT) on great tit (*Parus major*) behaviour and reproductive traits. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 349. Petr Kohout. Ecology of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Tartu, 2018, 184 p.
- 350. Gristin Rohula-Okunev. Effects of endogenous and environmental factors on night-time water flux in deciduous woody tree species. Tartu, 2018, 184 p.
- 351. Jane Oja. Temporal and spatial patterns of orchid mycorrhizal fungi in forest and grassland ecosystems. Tartu, 2018, 102 p.
- 352. Janek Urvik. Multidimensionality of aging in a long-lived seabird. Tartu, 2018, 135 p.
- 353. Lisanna Schmidt. Phenotypic and genetic differentiation in the hybridizing species pair *Carex flava* and *C. viridula* in geographically different regions. Tartu, 2018, 133 p.
- 354. **Monika Karmin**. Perspectives from human Y chromosome phylogeny, population dynamics and founder events. Tartu, 2018, 168 p.
- 355. **Maris Alver**. Value of genomics for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk prediction. Tartu, 2019, 148 p.
- 356. Lehti Saag. The prehistory of Estonia from a genetic perspective: new insights from ancient DNA. Tartu, 2019, 171 p.
- 357. **Mari-Liis Viljur**. Local and landscape effects on butterfly assemblages in managed forests. Tartu, 2019, 115 p.
- 358. **Ivan Kisly**. The pleiotropic functions of ribosomal proteins eL19 and eL24 in the budding yeast ribosome. Tartu, 2019, 170 p.
- 359. **Mikk Puustusmaa**. On the origin of papillomavirus proteins. Tartu, 2019, 152 p.
- 360. **Anneliis Peterson**. Benthic biodiversity in the north-eastern Baltic Sea: mapping methods, spatial patterns, and relations to environmental gradients. Tartu, 2019, 159 p.
- 361. **Erwan Pennarun**. Meandering along the mtDNA phylogeny; causerie and digression about what it can tell us about human migrations. Tartu, 2019, 162 p.

- 362. **Karin Ernits**. Levansucrase Lsc3 and endo-levanase BT1760: characterization and application for the synthesis of novel prebiotics. Tartu, 2019, 217 p.
- 363. Sille Holm. Comparative ecology of geometrid moths: in search of contrasts between a temperate and a tropical forest. Tartu, 2019, 135 p.
- 364. **Anne-Mai Ilumäe**. Genetic history of the Uralic-speaking peoples as seen through the paternal haplogroup N and autosomal variation of northern Eurasians. Tartu, 2019, 172 p.
- 365. Anu Lepik. Plant competitive behaviour: relationships with functional traits and soil processes. Tartu, 2019, 152 p.
- 366. **Kunter Tätte**. Towards an integrated view of escape decisions in birds under variable levels of predation risk. Tartu, 2020, 172 p.
- 367. **Kaarin Parts**. The impact of climate change on fine roots and rootassociated microbial communities in birch and spruce forests. Tartu, 2020, 143 p.
- 368. Viktorija Kukuškina. Understanding the mechanisms of endometrial receptivity through integration of 'omics' data layers. Tartu, 2020, 169 p.
- 369. **Martti Vasar**. Developing a bioinformatics pipeline gDAT to analyse arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities using sequence data from different marker regions. Tartu, 2020, 193 p.
- 370. **Ott Kangur**. Nocturnal water relations and predawn water potential disequilibrium in temperate deciduous tree species. Tartu, 2020, 126 p.
- 371. **Helen Post**. Overview of the phylogeny and phylogeography of the Y-chromosomal haplogroup N in northern Eurasia and case studies of two linguistically exceptional populations of Europe Hungarians and Kalmyks. Tartu, 2020, 143 p.
- 372. Kristi Krebs. Exploring the genetics of adverse events in pharmacotherapy using Biobanks and Electronic Health Records. Tartu, 2020, 151 p.
- 373. Kärt Ukkivi. Mutagenic effect of transcription and transcription-coupled repair factors in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2020, 154 p.
- 374. Elin Soomets. Focal species in wetland restoration. Tartu, 2020, 137 p.
- 375. Kadi Tilk. Signals and responses of ColRS two-component system in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2020, 133 p.
- 376. **Indrek Teino**. Studies on aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the mouse granulosa cell model. Tartu, 2020, 139 p.
- 377. **Maarja Vaikre**. The impact of forest drainage on macroinvertebrates and amphibians in small waterbodies and opportunities for cost-effective mitigation. Tartu, 2020, 132 p.
- 378. Siim-Kaarel Sepp. Soil eukaryotic community responses to land use and host identity. Tartu, 2020, 222 p.
- 379. Eveli Otsing. Tree species effects on fungal richness and community structure. Tartu, 2020, 152 p.
- 380. **Mari Pent**. Bacterial communities associated with fungal fruitbodies. Tartu, 2020, 144 p.

- 381. Einar Kärgenberg. Movement patterns of lithophilous migratory fish in free-flowing and fragmented rivers. Tartu, 2020, 167 p.
- 382. Antti Matvere. The studies on aryl hydrocarbon receptor in murine granulosa cells and human embryonic stem cells. Tartu, 2021, 163 p.
- 383. Jhonny Capichoni Massante. Phylogenetic structure of plant communities along environmental gradients: a macroecological and evolutionary approach. Tartu, 2021, 144 p.
- 384. **Ajai Kumar Pathak**. Delineating genetic ancestries of people of the Indus Valley, Parsis, Indian Jews and Tharu tribe. Tartu, 2021, 197 p.
- 385. **Tanel Vahter**. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal biodiversity for sustainable agroecosystems. Tartu, 2021, 191 p.
- 386. **Burak Yelmen**. Characterization of ancient Eurasian influences within modern human genomes. Tartu, 2021, 134 p.
- Linda Ongaro. A genomic portrait of American populations. Tartu, 2021, 182 p.
- 388. **Kairi Raime**. The identification of plant DNA in metagenomic samples. Tartu, 2021, 108 p.
- 389. Heli Einberg. Non-linear and non-stationary relationships in the pelagic ecosystem of the Gulf of Riga (Baltic Sea). Tartu, 2021, 119 p.
- 390. **Mickaël Mathieu Pihain**. The evolutionary effect of phylogenetic neighbourhoods of trees on their resistance to herbivores and climatic stress. Tartu, 2022, 145 p.
- 391. **Annika Joy Meitern**. Impact of potassium ion content of xylem sap and of light conditions on the hydraulic properties of trees. Tartu, 2022, 132 p.
- 392. Elise Joonas. Evaluation of metal contaminant hazard on microalgae with environmentally relevant testing strategies. Tartu, 2022, 118 p.
- 393. **Kreete Lüll**. Investigating the relationships between human microbiome, host factors and female health. Tartu, 2022, 141 p.
- 394. **Triin Kaasiku**. A wader perspective to Boreal Baltic coastal grasslands: from habitat availability to breeding site selection and nest survival. Tartu, 2022, 141 p.
- 395. **Meeli Alber**. Impact of elevated atmospheric humidity on the structure of the water transport pathway in deciduous trees. Tartu, 2022, 170 p.
- 396. Ludovica Molinaro. Ancestry deconvolution of Estonian, European and Worldwide genomic layers: a human population genomics excavation. Tartu, 2022, 138 p.
- 397. **Tina Saupe**. The genetic history of the Mediterranean before the common era: a focus on the Italian Peninsula. Tartu, 2022, 165 p.
- 398. **Mari-Ann Lind**. Internal constraints on energy processing and their consequences: an integrative study of behaviour, ornaments and digestive health in greenfinches. Tartu, 2022, 137 p.
- 399. Markus Valge. Testing the predictions of life history theory on anthropometric data. Tartu, 2022, 171 p.
- 400. Ants Tull. Domesticated and wild mammals as reservoirs for zoonotic helminth parasites in Estonia. Tartu, 2022, 152 p.

- 401. Saleh Rahimlouye Barabi. Investigation of diazotrophic bacteria association with plants. Tartu, 2022, 137 p.
- 402. Farzad Aslani. Towards revealing the biogeography of belowground diversity. Tartu, 2022, 124 p.
- 403. Nele Taba. Diet, blood metabolites, and health. Tartu, 2022, 163 p.
- 404. **Katri Pärna**. Improving the personalized prediction of complex traits and diseases: application to type 2 diabetes. Tartu, 2022, 190 p.
- 405. Silva Lilleorg. Bacterial ribosome heterogeneity on the example of bL31 paralogs in *Escherichia coli*. Tartu, 2022, 189 p.
- 406. Oliver Aasmets. The importance of microbiome in human health. Tartu, 2022, 123 p.
- 407. **Henel Jürgens**. Exploring post-translational modifications of histones in RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription. Tartu, 2022, 147 p.
- 408. **Mari Tagel**. Finding novel factors affecting the mutation frequency: a case study of tRNA modification enzymes TruA and RluA. Tartu, 2022, 176 p.
- 409. **Marili Sell**. The impact of environmental change on ecophysiology of hemiboreal tree species acclimation mechanisms in belowground. Tartu, 2022, 163 p.
- 410. **Kaarin Hein**. The hissing behaviour of Great Tit (*Parus major*) females reflects behavioural phenotype and breeding success in a wild population. Tartu, 2022, 96 p.
- 411. Maret Gerz. The distribution and role of mycorrhizal symbiosis in plant communities. Tartu, 2022, 206 p.
- 412. Kristiina Nõomaa. Role of invasive species in brackish benthic community structure and biomass changes. Tartu, 2023, 151 p.
- 413. Anton Savchenko. Taxonomic studies in Dacrymycetes: *Cerinomyces* and allied taxa. Tartu, 2023, 181 p.
- 414. Ahto Agan. Interactions between invasive pathogens and resident mycobiome in the foliage of trees. Tartu, 2023, 155 p.
- 415. **Diego Pires Ferraz Trindade**. Dark diversity dynamics linked to global change: taxonomic and functional perspective. Tartu, 2023, 134 p.